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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except common units)

June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 353,157  $ 234,448 
Trade and other receivables - net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,425 and $2,414, respectively 254,986  183,861 
Loans receivable, including loans held for sale of $743,594 and $602,675, respectively, net 1,428,283  1,131,745 
Inventories, net 224,102  214,084 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 44,396  41,090 

Total current assets 2,304,924  1,805,228 
Long-term loans receivable, net 462,729  423,248 
Goodwill 148,027  125,813 
Other intangible assets, net 123,347  94,783 
Other non-current assets 165,980  195,859 
Property, plant and equipment, net 246,503  238,510 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 75,531  42,711 
Long-term investments 239,842  309,697 

Total Assets $ 3,766,883  $ 3,235,849 

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 135,932  $ 109,572 
Accrued liabilities 136,082  112,744 
Deposits 1,613,022  1,360,477 
Short-term debt 283  685 
Current portion of long-term debt 67  67 
Other current liabilities 90,012  65,598 

Total current liabilities 1,975,398  1,649,143 
Long-term deposits 304,809  208,004 
Long-term debt 184,788  179,572 
Other borrowings 25,715  41,682 
Preferred unit liability 153,576  152,247 
Accrued pension liabilities 90,053  84,948 
Deferred tax liabilities 15,956  41,055 
Long-term operating lease liabilities 61,736  35,512 
Other non-current liabilities 38,970  42,226 

Total Liabilities 2,851,001  2,434,389 
Commitments and Contingencies
Capital:

Partners' capital common units: 21,413,749 and 21,605,093 issued and outstanding (after deducting 18,248,177 and 17,904,679 units held in treasury,
at cost of $324,093 and $309,257), respectively 1,017,276  952,094 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (150,956) (151,874)
Total Partners' Capital 866,320  800,220 

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated entities 49,562  1,240 

Total Capital 915,882  801,460 

Total Liabilities and Capital $ 3,766,883  $ 3,235,849 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except common units and per common unit data)

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenue:

Diversified Industrial net sales $ 315,046  $ 346,664  $ 619,472  $ 673,913 
Energy net revenue 50,314  47,024  98,478  85,341 
Financial Services revenue 105,384  47,720  198,165  87,899 
Supply Chain revenue 30,181  —  30,181  — 

Total revenue 500,925  441,408  946,296  847,153 
Costs and expenses:

Cost of goods sold 289,399  288,813  550,692  556,983 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 136,364  100,841  251,318  186,965 
Asset impairment charges 329  32  329  435 
Finance interest expense 18,382  1,672  32,123  2,836 
Provision for credit losses 3,204  3,883  11,010  5,165 
Interest expense 5,833  4,818  11,819  9,342 
Gains from sales of businesses —  (85,185) —  (85,185)
Realized and unrealized losses (gains) on securities, net 3,121  (1,515) 2,514  26,211 
Other income, net (3,829) (1,240) (5,005) (1,681)

Total costs and expenses 452,803  312,119  854,800  701,071 
Income from operations before income taxes and equity method investments 48,122  129,289  91,496  146,082 

Income tax (benefit) provision (15,330) 39,436  (726) 47,045 
Loss (income) of associated companies, net of taxes 4,837  (2,260) 8,804  2,383 

Net income 58,615  92,113  83,418  96,654 
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated entities 535  (35) 578  (11)

Net income attributable to common unitholders $ 59,150  $ 92,078  $ 83,996  $ 96,643 
Net income per common unit - basic

Net income attributable to common unitholders $ 2.75  $ 4.03  $ 3.89  $ 4.29 
Net income per common unit - diluted

Net income attributable to common unitholders $ 2.44  $ 3.52  $ 3.53  $ 3.82 

Weighted-average number of common units outstanding - basic 21,506,699  22,846,677  21,595,730  22,529,635 
Weighted-average number of common units outstanding - diluted 25,462,813  27,061,579  25,501,513  26,931,547 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3



STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Net income $ 58,615  $ 92,113  $ 83,418  $ 96,654 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of taxes:

Currency translation adjustments (175) (2,194) 918  (2,653)
Other comprehensive (loss) income (175) (2,194) 918  (2,653)

Comprehensive income 58,440  89,919  84,336  94,001 
Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests 535  (35) 578  (11)

Comprehensive income attributable to common unitholders $ 58,975  $ 89,884  $ 84,914  $ 93,990 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Capital

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except common units and treasury units)

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. Common Unitholders

Common Treasury Units Partners'
Accumulated Other

Comprehensive
Total

Partners'

Noncontrolling
Interests in

Consolidated Total
Units Units Dollars Capital Loss Capital Entities Capital

Balance as of December 31, 2022 39,509,772  (17,904,679) $ (309,257) $ 952,094  $ (151,874) $ 800,220  $ 1,240  $ 801,460 
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle for current
expected credit losses, net of tax —  —  —  (3,862) —  (3,862) —  (3,862)

Net income (loss) —  —  —  24,846  —  24,846  (43) 24,803 
Currency translation adjustments —  —  —  —  1,093  1,093  —  1,093 
Equity compensation - restricted

units 146,414  —  —  (11) —  (11) —  (11)
Tax withholding related to vesting of

restricted units (8,972) —  —  (333) —  (333) —  (333)
Purchases of SPLP common units —  (75,504) (3,248) (3,248) —  (3,248) —  (3,248)
Other, net —  —  —  (61) —  (61) —  (61)
Balance as of March 31, 2023 39,647,214  (17,980,183) (312,505) 969,425  (150,781) 818,644  1,197  819,841 

Net income —  —  —  59,150  —  59,150  (535) 58,615 
Currency translation adjustments —  —  —  —  (175) (175) —  (175)
Equity compensation - restricted

units 17,174  —  —  419  —  419  —  419 
Tax withholding related to vesting of

restricted units (2,462) —  —  (100) —  (100) —  (100)
Purchases of SPLP common units —  (267,994) (11,588) (11,588) —  (11,588) —  (11,588)
Noncontrolling interests assumed

upon consolidation of Steel
Connect (Note 3) —  —  —  —  —  —  48,900  48,900 

Other, net —  —  —  (30) —  (30) —  (30)

Balance as of June 30, 2023 39,661,926  (18,248,177) $ (324,093) $ 1,017,276  $ (150,956) $ 866,320  $ 49,562  $ 915,882 
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Steel Partners Holdings L.P. Common Unitholders

Common Treasury Units Partners'
Accumulated Other

Comprehensive
Total

Partners'

Noncontrolling
Interests in

Consolidated Total
Units Units Dollars Capital Loss Capital Entities Capital

Balance as of December 31, 2021 37,828,941  (16,810,932) $ (264,284) $ 795,140  $ (131,803) $ 663,337  $ 5,711  $ 669,048 
Net income (loss) —  —  —  4,565  —  4,565  (24) 4,541 
Currency translation adjustments —  —  —  —  (459) (459) —  (459)
Equity compensation - restricted

units (37,315) —  —  119  —  119  —  119 
Purchases of SPLP common units —  (268,623) (10,418) (10,418) —  (10,418) —  (10,418)
Purchases of subsidiary shares from

noncontrolling interests —  —  —  (3,942) —  (3,942) (4,664) (8,606)
Balance as of March 31, 2022 37,791,626  (17,079,555) (274,702) 785,464  (132,262) 653,202  1,023  654,225 
Net income —  —  —  92,078  —  92,078  35  92,113 
Currency translation adjustments —  —  —  —  (2,194) (2,194) —  (2,194)
Equity compensation - restricted

units 1,705,239  —  —  354  —  354  —  354 
Purchases of SPLP common units —  (500,064) (20,999) (20,999) —  (20,999) —  (20,999)
Other, net —  —  —  11  —  11  —  11 
Balance as of June 30, 2022 39,496,865  (17,579,619) $ (295,701) $ 856,908  $ (134,456) $ 722,452  $ 1,058  $ 723,510 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

6



STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income 83,418  96,654 
Adjustments to reconcile net income from operations to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:

Provision for credit losses 11,010  5,165 
Loss of associated companies, net of taxes 8,804  2,383 
Realized and unrealized losses on securities, net 2,514  26,211 
Gains on sales of businesses —  (85,185)
Derivative gains on economic interests in loans (2,347) (2,382)
Deferred income taxes (20,923) 15,161 
Depreciation and amortization 26,740  27,511 
Non-cash lease expense 7,166  4,991 
Equity-based compensation 408  473 
Other 7,498  (1,809)

Net change in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade and other receivables (33,332) (32,706)
Inventories (2,671) (38,290)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (5,884) (7,213)
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities 4,007  75,507 
Net increase in loans held for sale (140,919) (187,332)
Net cash used in operating activities (54,511) (100,861)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investments (14,194) (144,227)
Proceeds from maturities of investments 38,291  6,900 
Return of investment in associated companies 1,000  — 
Loan originations, net of collections (210,852) (13,640)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (23,551) (18,470)
Net proceeds from sales of businesses —  142,081 
Increase in cash upon consolidation of Steel Connect 65,896  — 
Other (492) — 
Net cash used in investing activities (143,902) (27,356)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net revolver borrowings (repayments) 4,848  (94,551)
Repayments of term loans (34) (51)
Purchases of the Company's common units (14,836) (31,417)
Net decrease in other borrowings (15,903) (214,211)
Distribution to preferred unitholders (4,817) (4,817)
Purchase of subsidiary shares from noncontrolling interest —  (8,606)
Tax withholding related to vesting of restricted units (433) — 
Net increase in deposits 349,350  360,620 
Net cash provided by financing activities 318,175  6,967 

Net change for the period 119,762  (121,250)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,053) (2,490)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 234,448  325,363 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 353,157  $ 201,623 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

All amounts used in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are in thousands, except common and preferred units, per common and preferred unit,
share and per share data, and price per ounce.

1. NATURE OF THE BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Nature of the Business

Steel Partners Holdings L.P. ("we," "our," "SPLP" or "Company") is a diversified global holding company that engages in multiple businesses
through consolidated subsidiaries and other interests. It owns and operates businesses and has significant interests in various companies, including
diversified industrial products, energy, defense, supply chain management and logistics, banking and youth sports. SPLP operates through the following
segments: Diversified Industrial, Energy, Financial Services and Supply Chain, which are managed separately and offer different products and services. For
additional details related to the Company's reportable segments, see Note 17 - "Segment Information." Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc. ("SPH GP"), a
Delaware corporation, is the general partner of SPLP and is wholly-owned by SPLP. The Company is managed by SP General Services LLC ("Manager"),
pursuant to the terms of an amended and restated management agreement ("Management Agreement") discussed in further detail in Note 16 - "Related
Party Transactions."

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2023 and for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2023
and 2022, which have been prepared by the Company in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for
interim periods, include the accounts of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. The financial results of Steel Connect, Inc. ("Steel Connect" or
"STCN") have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date of May 1, 2023 (see Note 3 - "Acquisitions and
Divestitures"). In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation have been
reflected herein. The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full
year. The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial
statements included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 ("Annual Report" or "Form 10-K"), from which the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 has been derived.

The Company's fiscal quarter ends on the last day of the calendar quarter; however, for certain subsidiaries of the Company, the fiscal quarter
periods end on the Saturday that is closest to the last day of the calendar quarter, except for the last quarterly period of the fiscal year. The Company and all
its subsidiaries close their books for fiscal years on December 31. For ease of presentation, the quarterly financial statements included herein are described
as ending on the last day of the calendar quarter.

Certain financial information that is normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"), but is not required for interim reporting purposes, has been condensed or omitted. Management must make estimates
and assumptions that affect the consolidated financial statements and the related footnote disclosures. While management uses its best judgment, actual
results may differ from those estimates. Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period financial statements and notes to conform to the current
period presentation.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments ("ASU 2016-13"). This new standard changed the impairment model for most financial assets that are measured at amortized cost and certain
other instruments, including trade receivables, from an incurred loss model to an expected loss model and added certain new required disclosures. Under
the expected loss model, entities recognize estimated credit losses over the entire contractual term of the instrument rather than delaying recognition of
credit losses until it is probable the loss has been incurred. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2023. The guidance was applied on a
modified-retrospective basis, with the cumulative-effect adjustment recorded to partners' capital on the adoption date. The adoption did not have a material
effect on the Company’s trade receivables and other financial assets of its Diversified Industrial and Energy segments. The Company's Financial Services
segment recognized an increase of $5,248  to its Allowance for Credit Losses and a decrease of $3,862, net of tax cumulative effect adjustment to the
beginning balance of partners' capital from the adoption of ASU 2016-13.
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WebBank analyzed the portfolio segments and classes of financing receivables based on the implementation of the new standard. There were no
necessary changes in the portfolio segments or classes of financing receivables.

The amortized cost basis for loans is the combination of the balance, deferred fees and costs, and premium or discount. WebBank does not
generally record an allowance for credit losses ("ACL") for accrued interest because uncollectible accrued interest is reversed through interest income in a
timely manner in line with the nonaccrual and past due policies for loans. Accrued interest is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

As a result of the Company's adoption of ASU 2016-13, the following significant accounting policies have been updated from the policies
described in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Loans Receivable, Including Loans Held for Sale

WebBank's loan activities include several lending arrangements with companies where it originates credit card and other loans for consumers and
small businesses. These loans are classified as Loans receivable and are typically sold after origination. As part of these arrangements, WebBank earns fees
that are recorded in non-interest income. Fees earned from these lending arrangements are recorded as fee income. WebBank also purchases participations
in commercial and industrial loans through loan syndications. Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until
maturity or pay-off are reported at amortized cost. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct
origination costs, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the related loan yield over the estimated life of the loan.

Loans held for sale are carried at amortized cost. Gains and losses are recorded in noninterest income based on the difference between sales
proceeds and amortized cost.

Loans that are collateral-dependent are measured at the lower of amortized cost or the fair value of the collateral less the cost to sell.

Loans are reported as past due when either principal or interest is due and unpaid for a period of 30 days or more. The accrual of interest on loans
is discontinued at the time the loan is 90 days delinquent for commercial loans, 120 days for consumer loans and 180 days for small business loans unless
the loan is well-secured and in process of collection. In all cases, loans are placed on nonaccrual or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or
interest is considered doubtful.

All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on nonaccrual or charged off is reversed against interest income. The interest on
these loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual. Loans are returned to accrual status when all
the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The ACL, which consist of the allowance for loan losses, reserves for unfunded loan commitments, and the allowance on held to maturity debt
securities, represents managements estimate of current expected credit losses over the contractual term of WebBank’s loan portfolio, unfunded lending
commitments, and held to maturity debt securities as of the balance sheet date.

The reserves for unfunded lending commitments is included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The allowance for held
to maturity debt securities is estimated separately from loans and carried at net amortized cost included in other non-current assets on the consolidated
balance sheets.

The ACL is a valuation account that is deducted from the loan's amortized cost basis to present the net amount expected to be collected on the
loans. Loans are charged against the ACL and recognized in the consolidated statements of operations when management believes the recorded loan
balance is confirmed as uncollectible.

Management estimates the allowance balance using relevant information, from internal and external sources, relating to past events, current
conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The allowance for credit losses is measured on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk
characteristics exist. WebBank leverages economic projections from a third-party provider on a quarterly basis to generate macroeconomic factors for a
two-year reasonable and supportable timeframe, before reverting to the baseline loss-curve implied loss expectations.
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After applying historic loss experience, the quantitatively derived level of ACL is reviewed for each segment using qualitative criteria. Various risk
factors are tracked that influence our judgment regarding the level of the ACL across the portfolio segments. Primary qualitative factors that may be
reflected in the quantitative models include:

• Asset quality trends
• Risk management and loan administration practices
• Portfolio management and controls
• Effect of changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio
• Changes in lending policies and underwriting policies
• Existence and effect of any portfolio concentrations
• National economic business conditions and other macroeconomic adjustments
• Regional and local economic and business conditions
• Data availability and applicability
• Industry monitoring
• Value of underlying collateral

Changes in the level of the ACL reflect changes in these factors. The magnitude of the impact of each of these factors on the qualitative
assessment of the ACL changes from quarter to quarter according to the extent these factors are already reflected in historic loss rates and according to the
extent these factors diverge from one another. Also considered is the uncertainty inherent in the estimation process when evaluating the ACL.

Accounting Standards Not Yet Effective

In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to
Contractual Sale Restrictions. The new standard clarifies that a contractual restriction on the sale of an equity security should not be considered in
measuring the fair value of the security. The new standard also requires certain disclosures related to equity securities with contractual sale restrictions. The
ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted,
including adoption in an interim period. The standard should be applied prospectively. The Company is currently evaluating this guidance to determine the
impact it may have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

2. REVENUES

Disaggregation of Revenues

Revenues are disaggregated at the Company's segment level since the segment categories depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenues and cash flows are affected by economic factors. For additional details related to the Company's reportable segments, see Note 17 - "Segment
Information."

The following table presents the Company's revenues disaggregated by geography for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. The
Company's revenues are primarily derived domestically. Foreign revenues are based on the country in which the legal subsidiary generating the revenue is
domiciled. Revenue from any single foreign country was not material to the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
United States $ 457,567  $ 419,645  $ 883,732  $ 803,915 
Foreign 43,358  21,763  62,564  43,238 
Total revenue $ 500,925  $ 441,408  $ 946,296  $ 847,153 

Contract Balances

Differences in the timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections result in billed trade receivables, unbilled receivables (contract
assets) and deferred revenues (contract liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheets.

Contract Assets
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Unbilled receivables arise when the timing of billings to customers differs from the timing of revenue recognition, such as when the Company
recognizes revenue over time before a customer can be billed. Contract assets are classified as Prepaid expenses and other current assets on the
consolidated balance sheets. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the contract asset balance was $6,245 and $11,937, respectively.

Contract Liabilities

The Company records deferred revenues when cash payments are received or due in advance of the Company's performance, including amounts
that are refundable, which are recorded as contract liabilities. Contract liabilities are classified as Other current liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheets, based on the timing of when the Company expects to recognize revenue.

Contract Liabilities
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 4,380 
Deferral of revenue 12,739 
Recognition of unearned revenue (10,063)

Balance at June 30, 2023 $ 7,056 

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 3,396 
Deferral of revenue 3,200 
Recognition of unearned revenue (3,437)
Balance at June 30, 2022 $ 3,159 

3. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

Transfer and Exchange Agreement

On April 30, 2023, the Company and Steel Connect, Inc. ("Steel Connect" or "STCN"), executed a series of agreements, in which the Company
and certain of its affiliates (the "Steel Partners Group") transferred an aggregate of 3,597,744 shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share, of Aerojet
Rocketdyne Holdings, Inc. ("Aerojet") held by the Steel Partners Group to Steel Connect in exchange for 3,500,000 shares of newly created Series E
Convertible Preferred Stock of Steel Connect (the “Series E Convertible Preferred Stock” and such transfer and related transactions, the "Exchange
Transaction"). Following approval by the Steel Connect stockholders pursuant to the rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC, the Series E Convertible
Preferred Stock is convertible into an aggregate of 184.9 million shares of Steel Connect common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “common stock” or
“Common Stock”), and will vote together with the Steel Connect common stock and participate in any dividends paid on the Steel Connect common stock,
in each case on an as-converted basis. Upon conversion of the Series E Convertible Preferred Stock, the Steel Partners Group would hold approximately
84.0% of the outstanding equity interests of Steel Connect, and Steel Connect became a consolidated subsidiary for financial statement purposes. Steel
Connect is not consolidated for Federal income tax purposes because the ownership in Steel Connect is dispersed between different federal tax
consolidation groups. The Exchange Transaction closed on May 1, 2023, the date that the consideration was exchanged between the Company and Steel
Connect. Steel Connect's assets and liabilities have been included in the Company's consolidated balance sheet, with a related noncontrolling interest of
16.0% of STCN's common stock. Prior to May 1, 2023, the Company held a 49.6% ownership interest in Steel Connect and accounted for its investment in
Steel Connect in accordance with the equity method of accounting. The Company remeasured the previously held equity method investment to its fair
value based upon a valuation of Steel Connect, as of the date of the Exchange Transaction. The Exchange Transaction accomplishes the Company's
objective, which is to increase ownership in Steel Connect in order to benefit from future earnings and growth and strengthens Steel Connect’s balance
sheet to permit it to do acquisitions.

The Exchange Transaction was accounted for in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations,
and, accordingly, Steel Connect’s results of operations have been consolidated in our financial statements since the date of the Exchange Transaction. The
Company recorded a preliminary allocation of the Exchange Transaction to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of
May 1, 2023. The final Exchange Transaction allocation, which is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2023, will be based on final appraisals
and other analysis of fair values of acquired assets and liabilities. The Company does not expect that differences between the preliminary and final
Exchange Transaction allocation will have a material impact on its results of operations or financial position. The transaction costs associated with the
Exchange Transaction were approximately $1,803 and were expensed as incurred within selling, general and administrative expenses for the six months
ended June 30, 2023.
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The following table summarizes the total Exchange Transaction consideration:

(in thousands) May 1, 2023
Fair value of Aerojet common stock $ 202,733 

Fair value of previously held interests in Steel Connect:
Steel Connect common stock 14,910 
Steel Connect Series C Preferred Stock 35,000 
Steel Connect Convertible Note 13,006 

Noncontrolling interest at fair value 48,900 

Less cash acquired (65,896)

Total estimated consideration, less cash acquired $ 248,653 

The following table summarizes the initial fair value amounts recognized for each major class of assets acquired or liabilities assumed and
noncontrolling interests at the transaction date:

(in thousands) May 1, 2023

Trade and other receivables $ 36,900 
Inventories, net 6,900 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,000 
Identifiable intangible assets 36,000 
Other non-current assets 3,900 
Property, plant and equipment, net 3,400 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 29,250 
Investments 202,733 
Total assets acquired 324,083 

Accounts payable 26,300 
Accrued liabilities 29,100 
Other current liabilities 15,230 

Long-term operating lease liabilities 21,300 
Other non-current liabilities 5,500 
Total liabilities assumed 97,430 

Goodwill 22,000 
Net assets acquired at fair value $ 248,653 

The excess of the Exchange Transaction consideration over the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded
as goodwill, which was primarily attributed to expected synergies and the assembled workforce of Steel Connect and will not be deductible for income tax
purposes. The fair values assigned to the net identifiable assets and liabilities assumed were based on management’s estimates and assumptions.
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Identifiable intangible assets were recognized at their estimated acquisition date fair values. The fair value of the trade name asset was determined
using the relief-from-royalty method and the fair value of the customer relationships asset was determined using the excess earnings method. These
income-based approaches included assumptions such as the amount and timing of projected cash flows, growth rates, customer attrition rates, discount
rates, and the assessment of the asset’s life cycle. The estimated fair value and estimated remaining useful lives of identifiable intangible assets as of the
Exchange Transaction date were as follows:

(in thousands) Useful Life (Years) Amount
Customer relationships 7 $ 25,500 
Trade name Indefinite 10,500 
Estimated fair value of identifiable intangible assets $ 36,000 

The operating results of Steel Connect have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date of the Exchange Transaction.

(Unaudited) Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, has been prepared as if the
Exchange Transaction had occurred on January 1, 2021.

(in thousands, except per share data) As reported Pro Forma
Total revenue $ 1,695,441  $ 1,902,177 
Income from operations before income taxes and equity method investments $ 275,498  $ 284,111 
Net income $ 206,165  $ 271,215 
Net income per common unit - basic $ 9.03  $ 11.62 
Net income per common unit - diluted $ 8.12  $ 10.33 

The unaudited pro forma information is presented for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that
would have been achieved had the transaction been consummated as of that time, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

2022 WebBank Acquisition of Security Premium Finance

On August 2, 2022, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, WebBank, completed the acquisition of Security Premium Finance
Company, LLC ("Security Premium Finance"), based in Coral Gables, Florida for a total purchase price of $47,280 which was financed with cash on hand.
The purchase price contains a profit share interest valued at approximately $1,440, of which $190 was unpaid as of March 31, 2023. Security Premium
Finance provides insurance premium financing services for commercial and consumer clients to purchase property and casualty insurance products. In
connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded premium finance receivables, other intangible assets and goodwill associated with the acquisition,
totaling approximately $43,124, $1,370, and $2,959, respectively, as well as other assets and liabilities. Other intangible assets primarily consist of agent
relationships. The goodwill from the acquisition consists largely of the synergies expected from combining the operations of the two businesses. The
goodwill of $2,959 is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The purchase price and purchase price allocation of Security Premium Finance were finalized as of March 31, 2023, with no significant changes to
preliminary amounts. The results of operations of Security Premium Finance are included with WebBank in the Company's Financial Services segment.

2022 Noncontrolling Interest Acquisition

On January 7, 2022, the Company entered into stock purchase agreements with certain stockholders of iGo, Inc. ("iGo") to purchase such
stockholders’ shares of iGo common stock at $5.50 per share in cash. Following the acquisition of such shares, the Company owned more than 90% of
iGo’s outstanding shares. On January 14, 2022, iGo merged with a subsidiary of the Company ("Merger") without a vote or meeting of iGo's stockholders
pursuant to the short-form merger provisions under the Delaware General Corporation Law. All remaining shares of iGo common stock not owned by the
Company immediately prior
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to the Merger were converted into the right to receive $5.50 per share in cash, and the Company acquired all iGo shares it previously did not own for
approximately $8,606. Upon completion of the Merger, iGo became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

2022 Investment in Nonconsolidated Affiliate

On April 1, 2022, the Company acquired an interest in PCS-Mosaic Co-Invest L.P. ("PCS-Mosaic"), a private investment fund for a purchase price
of approximately $23,600. The fund is primarily invested in specialized software development and training services. The Company accounts for its
investment as an equity method investment as the Company does not have a controlling financial interest. The Company has not elected the fair value
option to account for PCS-Mosaic which will be carried at cost, plus or minus the Company's share of net earnings or losses of the investment, subject to
certain other adjustments. The Company’s share of net earnings or losses of the investment is included in Income (loss) of associated companies, net of tax
on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Dividends received from the investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Due to the
timing of receiving financial information from PCS-Mosaic, the Company records its share of net earnings or losses on a three month lag basis.

2022 Divestiture of SLPE Business

On April 25, 2022, the Company completed the sale of its subsidiary, SL Power Electronics Corporation ("SLPE"), to AEI US Subsidiary LLC, a
subsidiary of Advanced Energy Industries, Inc. for a sales price of $144,500, consisting entirely of cash. SLPE designed, manufactured, and marketed
power conversion solutions for original equipment manufacturers in the medical, lighting, audio-visual, controls, and industrial sectors and comprised the
Company’s Electrical Products business in the Diversified Industrial segment. SLPE recognized net sales of $4,722 and $19,408 and income before taxes
of $191 and $72 for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.

4. LOANS RECEIVABLE, INCLUDING LOANS HELD FOR SALE

Major classifications of Loans receivable, including loans held for sale, held by WebBank as of June  30, 2023 and December  31, 2022 are as
follows:

Total Current Non-current

June 30, 2023 %
December 31,

2022 % June 30, 2023
December 31,

2022 June 30, 2023
December 31,

2022

Loans held for sale $ 743,594  $ 602,675  $ 743,594  $ 602,675  $ —  $ — 

Commercial real estate loans $ 1,484  — % $ 987  — % $ —  $ —  $ 1,484  $ 987 
Commercial and industrial 1,031,208  87 % 857,817  87 % 593,541  472,934  437,667  384,883 
Consumer loans 148,837  13 % 123,204  13 % 125,259  85,826  23,578  37,378 
Total loans 1,181,529  100 % 982,008  100 % 718,800  558,760  462,729  423,248 
Less:

Allowance for credit losses (34,111) (29,690) (34,111) (29,690) —  — 

Total loans receivable, net $ 1,147,418  $ 952,318  684,689  529,070  462,729  423,248 
Loans receivable, including loans

held for sale $ 1,428,283  $ 1,131,745  $ 462,729  $ 423,248 

(a)    The amortized cost of loans receivable, including loans held for sale, is considered to be representative of fair value because the rates of interest are not significantly
different from market interest rates for instruments with similar maturities. The fair value of loans receivable, including loans held for sale, was $1,892,219 and
$1,548,035 as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Loans with an amortized cost of approximately $398,514 and $323,740 were pledged as collateral for potential borrowings as of June 30, 2023
and December 31, 2022, respectively. WebBank serviced $1,746 and $2,700 in loans for others as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

WebBank sold loans classified as loans held for sale of $8,839,805 and $6,965,315 during the six months ended June  30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The sold loans were derecognized from the consolidated balance sheets. Loans classified as loans held for sale primarily consist of consumer
and small business loans. Amounts added to loans held for sale during the same periods were $9,072,787 and $7,182,804, respectively.

(a)
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WebBank's ACL decreased $2,582, or 7.0%, during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and increased $4,421, or 14.9% during the six months
ended June 30, 2023. WebBank continues to monitor the impact of the current economic environment, including potential future negative impacts to its
loan portfolio.

Changes in the ACL are summarized as follows:
Commercial Real Estate

Loans Commercial & Industrial Consumer Loans Total
December 31, 2022 $ 28  $ 18,493  $ 11,169  $ 29,690 

Impact of adopting current expected credit loss accounting guidance
(see Note 1) 1  1,144  3,597  4,742 
Charge-offs —  (3,493) (2,539) (6,032)
Recoveries 5  328  154  487 
Provision 7  5,156  2,643  7,806 

March 31, 2023 $ 41  $ 21,628  $ 15,024  $ 36,693 
Charge-offs —  (3,826) (2,462) (6,288)
Recoveries 54  366  82  502 
(Benefit) Provision (47) 4,815  (1,564) 3,204 

June 30, 2023 $ 48  $ 22,983  $ 11,080  $ 34,111 

Commercial Real Estate
Loans Commercial & Industrial Consumer Loans Total

December 31, 2021 $ 23  $ 9,205  $ 4,697  $ 13,925 
Charge-offs —  (947) (1,273) (2,220)
Recoveries 7  415  407  829 
 (Benefit) Provision (5) 648  639  1,282 

March 31, 2022 $ 25  $ 9,321  $ 4,470  $ 13,816 
Charge-offs —  (1,005) (884) (1,889)
Recoveries 6  410  276  692 
(Benefit) Provision (6) 2,489  1,400  3,883 

June 30, 2022 $ 25  $ 11,215  $ 5,262  $ 16,502 

The ACL and outstanding loan balances are summarized as follows:

June 30, 2023
Commercial Real Estate

Loans Commercial & Industrial Consumer Loans Total
Allowance for credit losses:

Individually evaluated for impairment $ 8  $ 932  $ —  $ 940 
Collectively evaluated for impairment 40  22,051  11,080  33,171 

Total $ 48  $ 22,983  $ 11,080  $ 34,111 
Outstanding loan balances:

Individually evaluated for impairment $ 8  $ 3,448  $ —  $ 3,456 
Collectively evaluated for impairment 1,476  1,027,760  148,837  1,178,073 

Total $ 1,484  $ 1,031,208  $ 148,837  $ 1,181,529 

December 31, 2022
Commercial Real Estate

Loans Commercial & Industrial Consumer Loans Total
Allowance for loan losses:

Individually evaluated for impairment $ 8  $ 825  $ —  $ 833 
Collectively evaluated for impairment 20  17,668  11,169  28,857 

Total $ 28  $ 18,493  $ 11,169  $ 29,690 
Outstanding loan balances:

Individually evaluated for impairment $ 8  $ 4,357  $ —  $ 4,365 
Collectively evaluated for impairment 979  853,460  123,204  977,643 

Total $ 987  $ 857,817  $ 123,204  $ 982,008 
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Nonaccrual and Past Due Loans

Commercial and industrial loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest were $10,180 and $11,260 at June  30, 2023 and
December  31, 2022, respectively. Consumer loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest were $3,110 and $4,680 at June  30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively. The Company had nonaccrual loans of $782 and $788 at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Past due loans (accruing and nonaccruing) are summarized as follows:

June 30, 2023 Current
30-89 Days
Past Due

90+ Days
Past Due

Total
Past Due Total Loans

Recorded
Investment
In Accruing
Loans 90+

Days Past Due

Nonaccrual
Loans

That Are
Current

Commercial real estate loans $ 1,484  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 1,484  $ —  $ — 
Commercial and industrial 1,008,148  12,880  10,180  23,060  1,031,208  10,180  782 
Consumer loans 142,457  3,270  3,110  6,380  148,837  3,110  — 
Total loans $ 1,152,089  $ 16,150  $ 13,290  $ 29,440  $ 1,181,529  $ 13,290  $ 782 

December 31, 2022 Current
30-89 Days
Past Due

90+ Days
Past Due

Total
Past Due Total Loans

Recorded
Investment
In Accruing
Loans 90+

Days Past Due

Nonaccrual
Loans

That Are
Current

Commercial real estate loans $ 987  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 987  $ —  $ — 
Commercial and industrial 832,757  13,800  11,260  25,060  857,817  11,260  788 
Consumer loans 115,054  3,470  4,680  8,150  123,204  4,680  — 

Total loans $ 948,798  $ 17,270  $ 15,940  $ 33,210  $ 982,008  $ 15,940  $ 788 

(a)    Represents nonaccrual loans that are not past due more than 30 days; however, full payment of principal and interest is still not expected.

Credit Quality Indicators

In addition to the past due and nonaccrual criteria, loans are analyzed using a loan grading system. Generally, internal grades are assigned to
commercial loans based on the performance of the loans, financial/statistical models and loan officer judgment. For consumer loans and some commercial
and industrial loans, the primary credit quality indicator is payment status. Reviews and grading of loans with unpaid principal balances of $100 or more is
performed once per year. Grades follow definitions of Pass, Special Mention, Substandard and Doubtful, which are consistent with published definitions of
regulatory risk classifications. The definitions of Pass, Special Mention, Substandard and Doubtful are summarized as follows:

• Pass: An asset in this category is a higher quality asset and does not fit any of the other categories described below. The likelihood of loss is considered
remote.

• Special Mention: An asset in this category has a specific weakness or problem but does not currently present a significant risk of loss or default as to
any material term of the loan or financing agreement.

• Substandard: An asset in this category has a developing or minor weakness or weaknesses that could result in loss or default if deficiencies are not
corrected or adverse conditions arise.

• Doubtful: An asset in this category has an existing weakness or weaknesses that have developed into a serious risk of significant loss or default with
regard to a material term of the financing agreement.

Outstanding loan balances (accruing and nonaccruing) categorized by these credit quality indicators are summarized as follows:

June 30, 2023 Non - Graded Pass
Special

Mention
Sub-

standard Doubtful Total Loans
Commercial real estate loans $ —  $ 1,476  $ —  $ 8  $ —  $ 1,484 
Commercial and industrial 656,784  333,476  37,500  2,667  781  1,031,208 
Consumer loans 148,837  —  —  —  —  148,837 

Total loans $ 805,621  $ 334,952  $ 37,500  $ 2,675  $ 781  $ 1,181,529 

 (a)

 (a)
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December 31, 2022 Non - Graded Pass
Special

Mention
Sub-

standard Doubtful Total Loans
Commercial real estate loans $ —  $ 979  $ —  $ 8  $ —  $ 987 
Commercial and industrial 566,419  287,041  —  3,569  788  857,817 
Consumer loans 123,204  —  —  —  —  123,204 

Total loans $ 689,623  $ 288,020  $ —  $ 3,577  $ 788  $ 982,008 

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, WebBank did not issue new loans under the Small Business Administration's ("SBA") Paycheck
Protection Program ("PPP") authorized under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security ("CARES") Act. The existing loans were funded by the
PPP Liquidity Facility, have terms of between two and five years, and their repayment is guaranteed by the SBA. Payments by borrowers on the loans can
begin up to 16 months after the note date, and interest will continue to accrue during the 16-month deferment at 1%. Loans can be forgiven in whole or in
part (up to full principal and any accrued interest) if certain criteria are met. Loan processing fees paid to WebBank from the SBA are accounted for as loan
origination fees. Net deferred fees are recognized over the life of the loan as yield adjustments on the loans. If a loan is paid off or forgiven by the SBA
prior to its maturity date, the remaining unamortized deferred fees will be recognized in interest income at that time. The PPP loans are included in
Commercial and industrial loans in the table above. As of June  30, 2023, the total PPP loans and associated liabilities were $31,829 and $25,715,
respectively, and included in Long-term loans receivable, net, and Other borrowings, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2023. As
of December 31, 2022, the total PPP loans and associated liabilities were $48,656 and $41,682, respectively, and included in Long-term loans receivable,
net, and Other borrowings, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022. Upon borrower forgiveness, the SBA pays WebBank
for the principal and accrued interest owed on the loan. WebBank has received forgiveness payments from the SBA and received payments from borrowers
of $4,210 during the six months ended June 30, 2023.

The Company is offering loan modifications to assist borrowers during the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act along with the interagency
statement issued by the federal banking agencies provides that loan modifications made in response to COVID-19 do not need to be accounted for as a
troubled debt restructuring ("TDR"). Accordingly, the Company does not account for such loan modifications as TDRs. The Company's loan modifications
allow for payment deferrals, payment reduction, and settlements amongst others. As of June 30, 2023, the Company had granted loan modifications on
$1,634 of loans. The loan modification program is ongoing and additional loans continue to be granted modifications. The Company granted approximately
4,357 short–term deferments on loan balances of $1,634, which represent 0.14% of total loan balances as of June 30, 2023. These loan modifications are
not classified as TDRs and will not be reported as past due provided that they are performing in accordance with the modified terms.

5. INVENTORIES, NET

A summary of Inventories, net is as follows:
June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

Finished products $ 64,514  $ 57,487 
In-process 43,633  39,300 
Raw materials 77,853  79,008 
Fine and fabricated precious metal in various stages of completion 38,790  39,104 

224,790  214,899 
LIFO reserve (688) (815)

Total $ 224,102  $ 214,084 

Fine and Fabricated Precious Metal Inventory

In order to produce certain of its products, the Company purchases, maintains and utilizes precious metal inventory. The Company records certain
precious metal inventory at the lower of last-in-first-out ("LIFO") cost or market value, with any adjustments recorded through Cost of goods sold.
Remaining precious metal inventory is accounted for primarily at fair value.

The Company obtains certain precious metals under a fee consignment agreement. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had
approximately $28,744 and $29,381, respectively, of precious metals, principally silver, under consignment, which are recorded at fair value in Inventories,
net with a corresponding liability for the same amount recorded in Accounts payable on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Fees charged under the
consignment agreement are recorded in Interest expense in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.
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June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Supplemental inventory information:
Precious metals stated at LIFO cost $ 4,333  $ 6,678 
Precious metals stated under non-LIFO cost methods, primarily at fair value $ 33,769  $ 31,611 
Market price per ounce:

Silver $ 22.89  $ 23.91 
Gold $ 1,927.74  $ 1,824.52 
Platinum $ 910.58  $ 1,073.91 
Palladium $ 1,231.39  $ 1,799.36 

6. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

A summary of the change in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment is as follows:
Diversified
Industrial Energy

Financial
Services Supply Chain

Corporate and
Other Total

Balance as of December 31, 2022
Gross goodwill $ 155,183  $ 67,143  $ 9,474  $ —  $ 81  $ 231,881 
Accumulated impairments (41,278) (64,790) —  —  —  (106,068)
Net goodwill 113,905  2,353  9,474  —  81  125,813 
Acquisition —  —  —  22,000  —  22,000 
Currency translation adjustments 214  —  —  —  —  214 
Balance as of June 30, 2023
Gross goodwill 155,397  67,143  9,474  22,000  81  254,095 
Accumulated impairments (41,278) (64,790) —  —  —  (106,068)
Net goodwill $ 114,119  $ 2,353  $ 9,474  $ 22,000  $ 81  $ 148,027 

(a)    Related to the Exchange Transaction with Steel Connect. See Note 3 - "Acquisitions and Divestitures"

A summary of Other intangible assets, net is as follows:
June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Customer relationships $ 217,395  $ 138,069  $ 79,326  $ 191,508  $ 132,246  $ 59,262 
Trademarks, trade names and brand names 57,151  22,586  34,565  46,601  21,755  24,846 
Developed technology, patents and patent applications 32,973  24,187  8,786  32,762  23,276  9,486 
Other 16,661  15,991  670  16,657  15,468  1,189 
Total $ 324,180  $ 200,833  $ 123,347  $ 287,528  $ 192,745  $ 94,783 

Trademarks with indefinite lives as of June  30, 2023 and December  31, 2022 were $22,201 and $11,680, respectively. Amortization expense
related to intangible assets was $4,185 and $3,729 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $7,773 and $7,993 for the six
months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Based on gross carrying amounts at June 30, 2023, the Company's estimate of amortization expense for identifiable intangible assets for the years
ending December 31, 2023 through 2027 is presented in the table below.

Year Ending December 31,
2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Estimated amortization expense 16,463  17,124  15,843  13,849  13,064 

(a)
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7. INVESTMENTS

The following table summarizes the Company's long-term investments as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.
Ownership % Long-Term Investments Balance

June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022 June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Aerojet Rocketdyne Holdings, Inc. 4.5 % 4.5 % 197,463  $ 201,278 
Steel Connect, Inc. convertible notes —  14,521 
STCN preferred stock —  35,000 
STCN common stock 30.0 % —  26,000 
PCS-Mosaic 59.0 % 59.0 % 23,323  23,323 
Other long-term investments 19,056  9,575 
Total $ 239,842  $ 309,697 

(a)    Gross unrealized gains for Aerojet totaled $187,881 and $147,421 at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company believes the exchange of Aerojet common
shares with Steel Connect in accordance with the Exchange Agreement qualifies as a tax-free exchange resulting in no taxable gain to the Company. See Note 3 -
"Acquisitions and Divestitures".

(b)     Balance included the Company's investment in STCN as of December 31, 2022. The Company's ownership of Steel Connect increased to 84.0% on May 1, 2023, as
discussed in Note 3 - "Acquisitions and Divestitures" and, as of May 1, 2023, STCN is consolidated by the Company. The STCN convertible notes are outstanding as of
June 30, 2023 and are eliminated in consolidation.

(c) Represents the Company's investment in PCS-Mosaic as described in Note 3 - "Acquisitions and Divestitures".

The loss (income) of associated companies, net of taxes, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are as follows:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Steel Connect, Inc. convertible notes $ 421  $ 588  $ 389  $ 955 
STCN preferred stock —  221  —  621 
STCN common stock 4,416  (3,069) 8,415  807 
Total $ 4,837  $ (2,260) $ 8,804  $ 2,383 

The amounts of unrealized losses (gains) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 that relate to equity securities still held as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are as follows:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Net losses (gains) recognized during the period on equity securities $ 3,121  $ (1,515) $ 2,514  $ 26,211 
Less: Net losses (gains) recognized during the period on equity securities sold during
the period (1) —  2  — 
Unrealized losses (gains) recognized during the period on equity securities still held
at the end of the period $ 3,122  $ (1,515) $ 2,512  $ 26,211 

Equity Method Investments

As of June 30, 2023, the Company's investments in associated companies includes PCS-Mosaic, which is accounted for under the equity method
of accounting. PCS-Mosaic is a private investment fund primarily invested in specialized software development and training services. PCS-Mosaic is
carried at cost, plus or minus the Company’s share of net earnings or losses of the investment. Associated companies are included in the Corporate and
Other segment.

Beginning May 1, 2023, STCN was consolidated by the Company. Refer to Note 3 - "Acquisitions and Divestitures" for further details of the
exchange transactions between the Company and STCN.

(a)

(b)

(b)

(b)

(c)
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Other Investments

WebBank has held-to-maturity ("HTM") debt securities which are carried at amortized cost and included in Other non-current assets on the
Company's consolidated balance sheets. The amount and contractual maturities of HTM debt securities are noted in the tables below. Actual maturities may
differ from expected or contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without penalties. The securities
are collateralized by unsecured consumer loans.

June 30, 2023
Amortized Cost Gross Unrealized Gains Estimated Fair Value Carrying Value

Collateralized securities $ 143,598  $ 829  $ 144,427  $ 143,598 

Contractual maturities within:
One year to five years 135,934 
Five years to ten years 4,023 
After ten years 3,641 

Total $ 143,598 

December 31, 2022
Amortized Cost Gross Unrealized Gains Estimated Fair Value Carrying Value

Collateralized securities $ 176,719  $ 146  $ 176,865  $ 176,719 

Contractual maturities within:
One year to five years 169,783 
Five years to ten years 5,281 
After ten years 1,655 

Total $ 176,719 

WebBank regularly evaluates each HTM debt security whose value has declined below amortized cost to assess whether the decline in fair value is
other-than-temporary. If there is an other-than-temporary impairment in the fair value of any individual security classified as HTM, WebBank writes down
the security to fair value with a corresponding credit loss portion charged to earnings, and the corresponding non-credit portion charged to accumulated
other comprehensive income.

8. DEBT

The components of debt and a reconciliation to the carrying amount of long-term debt is presented in the table below:
June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

Short term debt:
Foreign $ 283  $ 685 
Short-term debt 283  685 

Long-term debt:
Credit Agreement 183,900  178,650 
Other debt - domestic 955  989 
Subtotal 184,855  179,639 
Less: portion due within one year 67  67 
Long-term debt 184,788  179,572 

Total debt $ 185,138  $ 180,324 

Long-term debt as of June 30, 2023 matures in each of the next five years as follows:
Total 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter

Long-term debt $ 184,855  $ 67  $ 67  $ 67  $ 183,967  $ 687  $ — 

As of June  30, 2023, the Company's senior credit agreement, as amended and restated ("Credit Agreement") covers substantially all of the
Company's subsidiaries, with the exception of WebBank, and provides for a senior secured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount not to
exceed $600,000 (the "Revolving Credit Loans"), which includes a $50,000 subfacility for swing line loans, a $50,000 subfacility for standby letters of
credit and a foreign currency sublimit (available in euros and pounds sterling) equal to the lesser of $75,000 and the total amount of the Revolving Credit
Commitment. The Credit Agreement permits, under certain circumstances, to increase the aggregate principal amount of revolving credit
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commitments under the Credit Agreement by $300,000 plus additional amounts so long as the Leverage Ratio would not exceed 3.50:1. Borrowings bear
interest, at annual rates of either Base Rate, SOFR Rate or Term RFR, at the borrowers’ option, plus an applicable margin, as set forth in the Credit
Agreement. As of June 30, 2023, the Credit Agreement also provides for a commitment fee of 0.150% to be paid on unused borrowings.

The Credit Agreement contains financial covenants, including: (i) a Leverage Ratio not to exceed 4.25 to 1.00 for quarterly periods as of the end
of each fiscal quarter; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, following a Material Acquisition, Borrowers shall not permit the Leverage
Ratio, calculated as of the end of each of the four (4) fiscal quarters immediately following such Material Acquisition (which, for the avoidance of doubt,
shall commence with the fiscal quarter in which such Material Acquisition is consummated), to exceed 4.50 to 1.00 and (ii) an Interest Coverage Ratio,
calculated as of the end of each fiscal quarter, not less than 3.00 to 1.00. The Credit Agreement also contains standard representations, warranties and
covenants for a transaction of this nature, including, among other things, covenants relating to: (i) financial reporting and notification; (ii) payment of
obligations; (iii) compliance with law; (iv) maintenance of insurance; and (v) maintenance of properties. As of June  30, 2023, the Company was in
compliance with all financial covenants under the Credit Agreement. The Company believes it will remain in compliance with the Credit Agreements
covenants for the next twelve months. The Credit Agreement will expire on December 29, 2026.

The weighted average interest rate on the Credit Agreement was 6.42% at June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, letters of credit totaling $10,448
had been issued under the Credit Agreement. The primary use of the Company's letters of credit are to support the performance and financial obligations for
environmental matters, insurance programs and real estate leases. The Credit Agreement permits the Company to borrow for the dividends on its preferred
units, pension contributions, investments, acquisitions and other general corporate expenses. Based on financial results as of June 30, 2023, the Company's
total availability under the Credit Agreement, which is based upon Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA and certain covenants as described in the Credit
Agreement, was approximately $405,700 as of June 30, 2023.

Steel Connect Revolving Credit Facility

Steel Connect's wholly-owned subsidiary, ModusLink Corporation ("ModusLink"), has a revolving credit agreement (the "Umpqua Revolver")
with Umpqua Bank which provides for a maximum credit commitment of $12,500 and a sub-limit of $5,000 for letters of credit and expires on March 31,
2025. As of June  30, 2023, ModusLink was in compliance with the Umpqua Revolver's covenants and believes it will remain in compliance with the
Umpqua Revolver’s covenants for the next twelve months. As of June 30, 2023, ModusLink had available borrowing capacity of $11,890 and there was
$610 outstanding for letters of credit.

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

WebBank - Economic Interests in Loans

WebBank's derivative financial instruments represent on-going economic interests in loans made after they are sold. These derivatives are carried
at fair value on a gross basis in Other non-current assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheets and are classified within Level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy (see Note 14 - "Fair Value Measurements"). As of June 30, 2023, outstanding derivatives mature within three to five years. Gains and losses
resulting from changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are accounted for in the Company's consolidated statements of operations in Financial
Services revenue. Fair value represents the estimated amounts that WebBank would receive or pay to terminate the contracts at the reporting date based on
a discounted cash flow model for the same or similar instruments. WebBank does not enter into derivative contracts for speculative or trading purposes.
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Precious Metal and Commodity Inventories

As of June  30, 2023, the Company had the following outstanding forward contracts with settlement dates through July 2023. There were no
futures contracts outstanding as of June 30, 2023.
Commodity Amount (in whole units) Notional Value
Silver 81,357 ounces $ 1,830 
Gold 0 ounces $ (4)
Palladium 1,187 ounces $ 1,536 
Platinum 60 ounces $ 55 
Copper 267,000 pounds $ 997 
Tin 19 metric tons $ 535 

Fair Value Hedges. Certain forward contracts are accounted for as fair value hedges under ASC 815 for the Company's precious metal inventory
carried at fair value. These contracts hedge 74,481 ounces (in whole units) of silver and a majority of the Company's pounds of copper. The fair values of
these derivatives are recognized as derivative assets and liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The net changes in fair value of the
derivative assets and liabilities, and the changes in the fair value of the underlying hedged inventory, are recognized in the Company's consolidated
statements of operations, and such amounts principally offset each other due to the effectiveness of the hedges.

Economic Hedges. The remaining outstanding forward contracts for silver, and all the contracts for gold, palladium and tin, are accounted for as
economic hedges. As these derivatives are not designated as accounting hedges under ASC 815, they are accounted for as derivatives with no hedge
designation. The derivatives are marked to market with gains and losses recorded in earnings in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. The
economic hedges are associated primarily with the Company's precious metal inventory valued using the LIFO method.

The forward contracts were made with a counterparty rated Aa2 by Moody's. Accordingly, management evaluated counterparty risk and believes
that there is minimal credit risk of default. The Company estimates the fair value of its derivative contracts based on the counterparty's statement. The
Company maintains collateral on account with the third-party broker which varies in amount depending on the value of open contracts and the current
market price.

The fair value and carrying amount of derivative instruments on the Company's consolidated balance sheets are as follows:
Fair Value of Derivative Assets (Liabilities)

June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value

Derivatives designated as ASC 815 hedges
Commodity contracts Accrued liabilities $ (32) Accrued liabilities $ (70)

Derivatives not designated as ASC 815 hedges

Commodity contracts
Prepaid expenses and other current
assets 84  Accrued liabilities $ (177)

Economic interests in loans Other non-current assets $ 4,952  Other non-current assets $ 5,728 

The effects of fair value hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022
are not material. The effects of derivatives not designated as ASC 815 hedging instruments on the consolidated statements of operations for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Derivatives Not Designated as
Hedging Instruments:

Location of Gain Recognized in
Income

Amount of Gain Recognized in Income
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Commodity contracts Other income, net 213  $ 1,442  757  $ 448 
Economic interests in loans Financial Services revenue 1,088  2,382  2,348  1,453 

Total $ 1,301  $ 3,824  $ 3,105  $ 1,901 
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Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk

WebBank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk. In the normal course of business, these financial instruments include
commitments to extend credit in the form of loans as part of WebBank's lending arrangements. Those instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of
credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts recognized on the consolidated balance sheets. The contractual amounts of those instruments reflect the
extent of involvement WebBank has in particular classes of financial instruments.

As of June  30, 2023 and December  31, 2022, WebBank's undisbursed loan commitments totaled $586,725 and $606,537, respectively.
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a borrower who meets the lending criteria through one of WebBank's lending agreements, provided
there is no violation of any condition established in the contract with the counterparty to the lending arrangement.

Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since certain of the
commitments are expected to expire without the credit being extended, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash
requirements. WebBank evaluates each prospective borrower's credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed
necessary by WebBank upon extension of credit, is based on management's credit evaluation of the borrower and WebBank's counterparty.

WebBank's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend credit
is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. WebBank uses the same credit policy in making commitments and conditional obligations as
it does for on balance sheet instruments.

10. PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Company maintains several qualified and non-qualified pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans. The following table presents
the components of pension (income) expense for the Company's significant pension plans. The Company's other pension and post-retirement benefit plans
are not significant individually or in the aggregate.

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Interest cost $ 4,538  $ 2,382  $ 9,076  $ 4,764 
Expected return on plan assets (4,467) (6,336) (8,934) (12,671)
Amortization of actuarial loss 2,882  2,128  5,764  4,256 
Total net pension expense (income) $ 2,953  $ (1,826) $ 5,906  $ (3,651)

Net pension expense (income) is included in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. During the
six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company contributed $5,000 to its pension plans. Required future pension contributions are estimated based upon
assumptions such as discount rates on future obligations, assumed rates of return on plan assets and legislative changes. Actual future pension costs and
required funding obligations will be affected by changes in the factors and assumptions described in the previous sentence, including the impact of declines
in pension plan assets and interest rates, as well as other changes such as any plan termination or other acceleration events. The Company currently
estimates it will contribute $907 to its pension plans during the remainder of 2023.

11. CAPITAL AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

As of June 30, 2023, the Company had 21,413,749 Class A units (regular common units) outstanding.
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Common Unit Repurchase Program

The Board of Directors of SPH GP, the general partner of SPLP (the "Board of SPH GP") has approved the repurchase of up to an aggregate of
8,770,240 of the Company's common units (the "Repurchase Program"), which is inclusive of 1,000,000 common units approved in May 2023. The
Repurchase Program, which was announced on December 7, 2016, supersedes and cancels, to the extent any amounts remain available, all previously
approved repurchase programs. Any purchases made under the Repurchase Program will be made from time to time on the open market at prevailing
market prices or in negotiated transactions off the market, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. In connection with the Repurchase Program,
the Company may enter into a stock purchase plan. The Repurchase Program has no termination date. The Company repurchased 267,994 and 343,498
common units for an aggregate purchase price of $11,588 and $14,837 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. From the inception
of the Repurchase Program the Company has purchased 7,689,490 common units for an aggregate price of approximately $159,194. As of June 30, 2023,
there remained 1,080,750 common units that may yet be purchased under the Repurchase Program. In July 2023, the Company repurchased 53,600
common units for $2,359.

Incentive Award Plan

The Company's 2018 Incentive Award Plan (the "2018 Plan") provides equity-based compensation through the grant of options to purchase the
Company's limited partnership units, unit appreciation rights, restricted units, phantom units, substitute awards, performance awards, other unit-based
awards, and includes, as appropriate, any tandem distribution equivalent rights granted with respect to an award (collectively, "LP Units"). On May 18,
2020, the Company's unitholders approved the Amended and Restated 2018 Incentive Award Plan, which increased the number of LP Units issuable under
the 2018 Plan by 500,000 to a total of 1,000,000 LP Units. On June 9, 2021, the Company's unitholders approved the Second Amended and Restated 2018
Incentive Award Plan ("Second A&R 2018 Plan"), which increased the number of LP Units issuable under the 2018 Plan by 1,000,000 to a total of
2,000,000 LP Units. The Company granted 17,000 restricted units under the Second A&R 2018 Plan during the six months ended June 30, 2023. Such LP
Units were valued based upon the market value of the Company's LP Units on the date of grant, and collectively represent approximately $698 of unearned
compensation that will be recognized as expense ratably over the vesting period of the units. The grants have cliff vesting periods that range from six
months to two years from the date of grant.

Preferred Units

The Company's 6.0% Series A preferred units, no par value (the "SPLP Preferred Units") entitle the holders to a cumulative quarterly cash or in-
kind (or a combination thereof) distribution. The Company declared cash distributions of approximately $2,408 and $4,817 to preferred unitholders for
both the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The SPLP Preferred Units have a term of nine years, ending February 2026, and
are redeemable at any time at the Company's option at a $25 liquidation value per unit, plus any accrued and unpaid distributions (payable in cash or SPLP
common units, or a combination of both, at the Company's discretion). If redeemed in common units, the number of common units to be issued will be
equal to the liquidation value per unit divided by the volume weighted-average price of the common units for 60 days prior to the redemption.

The SPLP Preferred Units have no voting rights, except that holders of the preferred units have certain voting rights in limited circumstances
relating to the election of directors following the failure to pay six quarterly distributions. The SPLP Preferred Units are recorded as non-current liabilities,
including accrued interest expense, on the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of June  30, 2023 and December  31, 2022 because they have an
unconditional obligation to be redeemed for cash or by issuing a variable number of SPLP common units for a monetary value that is fixed and known at
inception. Because the SPLP Preferred Units are classified as liabilities, distributions thereon are recorded as a component of Interest expense in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were 6,422,128 SPLP Preferred Units outstanding.

On August 8, 2023, the Board of SPH GP declared a regular quarterly cash distribution of $0.375 per unit, payable September 15, 2023, to
unitholders of record as of September 1, 2023, on its SPLP Preferred Units.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Changes, net of tax, where applicable, in AOCI are as follows:
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Unrealized loss on
available-for-sale debt

securities
Cumulative translation

adjustments

Change in net pension
and other benefit

obligations Total
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ (92) $ (17,113) $ (134,669) $ (151,874)
Net other comprehensive income attributable to common unitholders —  1,093  —  1,093 
Balance at March 31, 2023 (92) (16,020) (134,669) (150,781)
Net other comprehensive loss attributable to common unitholders —  (175) —  (175)

Balance at June 30, 2023 $ (92) $ (16,195) $ (134,669) $ (150,956)

Unrealized loss on
available-for-sale

securities
Cumulative translation

adjustments

Change in net pension
and other benefit

obligations Total
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (92) $ (13,961) $ (117,750) $ (131,803)
Net other comprehensive loss attributable to common unitholders —  (459) —  (459)
Balance at March 31, 2022 (92) (14,420) (117,750) (132,262)
Net other comprehensive loss attributable to common unitholders —  (2,194) —  (2,194)

Balance at June 30, 2022 $ (92) $ (16,614) $ (117,750) $ (134,456)

Incentive Unit Awards

In 2012, SPLP issued to the Manager partnership profits interests in the form of Incentive Units which entitle the holder generally to share in 15%
of the increase in the equity value of the Company, based on the volume weighted average price of the Company’s common units for the 20 trading days
prior to the year-end measurement date. In 2015, the Manager assigned its rights to Incentive Units to a related party, SPH SPV-I LLC ("SPH SPV-I")
pursuant to an Incentive Unit Agreement. Vesting in Incentive Units is measured annually on the last day of the Company’s fiscal year and is based upon
exceeding a baseline equity value per common unit which is currently $41.82 and was determined when the most recent award vested on December 31,
2022. The number of outstanding Incentive Units is equal to 100% of the common units outstanding, including common units held by non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries. The measurement date equity value per common unit is determined by calculating the volume weighted average price of the Company’s
common units for 20 trading days prior to a measurement date. If an Incentive Unit award vests as of an annual measurement date they will be issued as
Class C units.

Upon vesting in Incentive Units, the baseline equity value will be recalculated as the new baseline equity value to be assessed at the next annual
measurement date. If the baseline equity value is not exceeded as of an annual measurement date, then no portion of annual Incentive Units will be
classified as Class C common units for that year and the baseline equity value per common unit will be the same amount as determined upon the prior
vesting. The Class C units have the same rights as the LP Units, including, without limitation, with respect to partnership distributions and allocations of
income, gain, loss and deduction, in all respects, except that liquidating distributions made by the Company to such holder may not exceed the amount of
its capital account allocable to such Class C units and such Class C units may not be sold in the public market, until they have converted into LP Units. At
such time that the amount of the capital account allocable to a Class C unit is equal to the amount of the capital account allocable to an LP Unit, such Class
C unit shall convert automatically into an LP Unit. As of the annual measurement date on December 31, 2022, 200,253 Incentive Units vested as the
Company’s volume weighted average price exceeded the then baseline equity value of $39.26, and upon vesting, were classified as Class C units. On
March 21, 2023, the Company issued the 200,253 Class C common units to SPH SPV-I, which SPH SPV-I earned based on the Company’s performance in
2022.

If June 30, 2023 was the annual measurement date, then approximately 216,746 Incentive Units would vest and be issued as Class C common
units based upon the volume weighted-average price of the Company's common units for 20 trading days prior to June 30, 2023. However, pursuant to the
terms to the Incentive Unit Agreement, vesting of the Incentive Units only occurs based on the value of the Company’s common units at the annual
measurement date on December 31, and therefore, more, fewer or no Incentive Units may vest for 2023.
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12. INCOME TAXES

The Company recorded income tax benefit of $15,330 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and income tax provision of $39,436 for the same
period in 2022. The Company recorded income tax benefit of $726 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and income tax provision of $47,045 for the
same period in 2022. The Company's tax provision represents the income tax expense or benefit of its consolidated subsidiaries that are taxable entities.
Significant differences between the statutory rate and the effective tax rate include partnership losses for which no tax benefit is recognized, tax expense
related to unrealized gains and losses on investment, changes in deferred tax valuation allowances, deferred tax movements resulting from the acquisition
of Steel Connect and other permanent differences. The Company's consolidated subsidiaries have recorded deferred tax valuation allowances to the extent
that they believe it is more likely than not that the benefits of certain deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods.

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 ("IRA") was signed into law which includes implementation of a new 15% corporate
alternative minimum tax, a one percent excise tax on share repurchases, and tax incentives for energy and climate initiatives. These provisions are effective
beginning January 1, 2023. The corporate alternative minimum tax provisions of the IRA do not apply to the Company as it is a partnership for tax
purposes and none of its subsidiaries are covered corporations.

13. NET INCOME PER COMMON UNIT

The following data was used in computing net income per common unit shown in the Company's consolidated statements of operations:
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Net income $ 58,615  $ 92,113  $ 83,418  $ 96,654 
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated entities 535  (35) 578  (11)
Net income attributable to common unitholders 59,150  92,078  83,996  96,643 
Effect of dilutive securities:
Interest expense from SPLP Preferred Units 3,076  3,076  6,145  6,145 

Net income attributable to common unitholders – assuming dilution $ 62,226  $ 95,154  $ 90,141  $ 102,788 
Net income per common unit – basic

Net income attributable to common unitholders $ 2.75  $ 4.03  $ 3.89  $ 4.29 
Net income per common unit – diluted

Net income attributable to common unitholders $ 2.44  $ 3.52  $ 3.53  $ 3.82 

Denominator for net income per common unit – basic 21,506,699  22,846,677  21,595,730  22,529,635 
Effect of dilutive securities:

Incentive Units 216,746  215,626  152,556  234,820 
Unvested restricted common units 17,923  185,153  16,839  182,543 
SPLP Preferred Units 3,721,445  3,814,123  3,736,388  3,984,549 

Denominator for net income per common unit – diluted 25,462,813  27,061,579  25,501,513  26,931,547 

(a)    Assumes the SPLP Preferred Units were redeemed in common units as described in Note 11 - "Capital and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss."

14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the Company's consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2023
and December 31, 2022 are summarized by type of inputs applicable to the fair value measurements as follows:

(a)
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June 30, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Long-term investments $ 212,819  $ 560  $ 3,140  $ 216,519 
Precious metal and commodity inventories recorded at fair value 35,162  —  —  35,162 
Economic interests in loans —  —  4,952  4,952 
Commodity contracts on precious metal and commodity inventories —  84  —  84 
Warrants —  —  3,564  3,564 

Total $ 247,981  $ 644  $ 11,656  $ 260,281 

Liabilities:
Commodity contracts on precious metal and commodity inventories $ —  $ 32  $ —  $ 32 
Other precious metal liabilities 29,586  —  —  29,586 
Total $ 29,586  $ 32  $ —  $ 29,618 

December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Long-term investments $ 234,039  $ —  $ 52,336  $ 286,375 
Precious metal and commodity inventories recorded at fair value 32,896  —  —  32,896 
Economic interests in loans —  —  5,728  5,728 
Warrants —  —  3,564  3,564 
Total $ 266,935  $ —  $ 61,628  $ 328,563 

Liabilities:
Commodity contracts on precious metal and commodity inventories $ —  $ 247  $ —  $ 247 
Other precious metal liabilities 30,115  —  —  30,115 

Total $ 30,115  $ 247  $ —  $ 30,362 

(a)      For additional details of the long-term investments, see Note 7 – "Investments." The investment in PCS-Mosaic of $23,323 as of June 30, 2023 and December 31,
2022, is not included in the fair value leveling tables as it is valued at cost.

(b)    For additional details of the economic interests in loans, see Note 9 – "Financial Instruments".
(c)     Included within Other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

There were no transfers of securities among the various measurement input levels during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 or 2022.

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the measurement date ("Level 1").

Level 2 inputs may include quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in a market that is not active for identical
assets or liabilities, or other inputs that can be corroborated by observable market data ("Level 2").

Level 3 inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability when there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. Level 3 inputs are
based on the best information available and may include data developed by the Company ("Level 3").

The fair value of the Company's financial instruments, such as cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and accounts payable,
approximates carrying value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. Carrying cost approximates fair value for long-term debt, which
has variable interest rates.

The precious metal and commodity inventories associated with the Company's fair value hedges (see Note 9 - "Financial Instruments") are
reported at fair value. Fair values of these inventories are based on quoted market prices on commodity exchanges and are considered Level 1
measurements. The derivative instruments that the Company purchases in connection with its precious metal and commodity inventories, specifically
commodity futures and forward contracts, are also valued at fair value. The futures contracts are Level 1 measurements since they are traded on a
commodity exchange. The forward contracts are entered into with a counterparty and are considered Level 2 measurements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(a)

(b)

(c)

27



Following is a summary of changes in financial assets measured using Level 3 inputs:
Long Term Investments Economic Interests in

Loans Warrants Total
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 52,336  $ 5,728  $ 3,564  $ 61,628 
Purchases 222  —  —  222 
Sales, cash collections, and eliminations (49,521) 2,348  —  (47,173)
Realized gains (3) (3,124) —  (3,127)
Unrealized gains 106  —  —  106 
Unrealized losses —  —  —  — 
Balance as of June 30, 2023 $ 3,140  $ 4,952  $ 3,564  $ 11,656 

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 50,085  $ 6,483  $ 6,929  $ 63,497 
Purchases 583  —  —  583 
Sales, cash collections, and eliminations —  (3,283) (2,150) (5,433)
Realized gains —  2,382  606  2,988 
Unrealized losses (1,573) —  —  (1,573)
Balance as of June 30, 2022 $ 49,095  $ 5,582  $ 5,385  $ 60,062 

(a)    Unrealized gains and losses are recorded in (Income) loss of associated companies, net of taxes in the consolidated statements of operations.
(b)       Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recorded in Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on securities, net or Financial services revenue in the consolidated

statements of operations.

Long-Term Investments - Valuation Techniques

The Company estimated the value of its investment in the STCN Note as of December 31, 2022 using a Binomial Lattice Model. Key inputs in the
valuation included the trading price and volatility of STCN's common stock, the risk-free rate of return, as well as the dividend rate, conversion price, and
maturity date. The fair value of the Company’s investment in STCN preferred stock as of December 31, 2022 was its par value because the Company has
the right to redeem and the issuer has the right to convert the instrument at the redemption value. The Company's investments in the STCN Note and STCN
preferred stock were remeasured as of the date of the Exchange Transaction. The Company's investment in Steel Connect as of June  30, 2023 was
eliminated as the Company's ownership of Steel Connect increased to 84.0% on May 1, 2023, as discussed in Note 3 - "Acquisitions and Divestitures".

Marketable Securities and Other - Valuation Techniques

The Company determines the fair value of certain corporate securities and corporate obligations by incorporating and reviewing prices provided
by third-party pricing services based on the specific features of the underlying securities.

The Company uses the net asset value included in quarterly statements it receives in arrears from a venture capital fund to determine the fair value
of such fund and determines the fair value of certain corporate securities and corporate obligations by incorporating and reviewing prices provided by third-
party pricing services based on the specific features of the underlying securities. The fair value of the derivatives held by WebBank (see Note 9 - "Financial
Instruments") represent the estimated amounts that WebBank would receive or pay to terminate the contracts at the reporting date and is based on
discounted cash flow analyses that consider credit, performance and prepayment. Unobservable inputs used in the discounted cash flow analyses are: a
constant prepayment rate of 9.80% to 35.75%, a constant default rate of 1.72% to 21.91% and a discount rate of 1.82% to 26.04%.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

The Company's non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, include goodwill and other intangible assets,
any assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, or its long-lived assets written down to fair value. To measure fair value for such assets and
liabilities, the Company uses techniques including an income approach, a market approach and/or appraisals (Level 3 inputs). The income approach is
based on a discounted cash flow analysis ("DCF") and calculates the fair value by estimating the after-tax cash flows attributable to an asset or liability and
then discounting the after-tax cash flows to a present value using a risk-adjusted discount rate. Assumptions used in the DCF require the exercise of
significant judgment, including judgment about appropriate discount rates and terminal values, growth rates and the amount and timing of expected future
cash flows. The discount rates, which are intended to reflect the risks inherent in future cash flow projections, used in the DCF are based on estimates of the
weighted-average cost of capital of a market participant. Such estimates are derived from analysis of peer companies and consider the industry weighted-
average return on debt and equity

(a) (b) (b)
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from a market participant perspective. A market approach values a business by considering the prices at which shares of capital stock, or related underlying
assets, of reasonably comparable companies are trading in the public market or the transaction price at which similar companies have been acquired. If
comparable companies are not available, the market approach is not used.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Environmental and Litigation Matters

The Company and certain of the Company's subsidiaries are defendants in certain legal proceedings and environmental investigations and have
been designated as potentially responsible parties ("PRPs") by federal and state agencies with respect to certain sites with which they may have had direct
or indirect involvement. Most of such legal proceedings and environmental investigations involve unspecified amounts of potential damage claims or
awards, are in an initial procedural phase, involve significant uncertainty as to the outcome or involve significant factual issues that need to be resolved,
such that it is not possible for the Company to estimate a range of possible loss. For matters that have progressed sufficiently through the investigative
process such that the Company is able to reasonably estimate a range of possible loss, an estimated range of possible loss, in excess of the accrued liability
(if any) for such matters, is provided. Any estimated range of possible loss is or will be based on currently available information and involves elements of
judgment and significant uncertainties and may not represent the Company's maximum possible loss exposure. The circumstances of such legal
proceedings and environmental investigations will change from time to time, and actual results may vary significantly from the current estimate. For
current proceedings not specifically reported below, management does not anticipate that the liabilities, if any, arising from such legal proceedings and
environmental investigations would have a material effect on the financial position, liquidity or results of operations of the Company.

The legal proceedings and environmental investigations are in various stages of administrative or judicial proceedings and include demands for
recovery of past governmental costs, and for future investigations and remedial actions. In some cases, the dollar amounts of the claims have not been
specified and, with respect to a number of the PRP claims, have been asserted against a number of other entities for the same cost recovery or other relief as
was asserted against certain of the Company's subsidiaries. The Company accrues liabilities associated with environmental and litigation matters on an
undiscounted basis, when they become probable and reasonably estimable. As of June 30, 2023, on a consolidated basis, the Company recorded liabilities
of $13,031 and $24,809 in Accrued liabilities and Other non-current liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2022,
on a consolidated basis, the Company recorded liabilities of $12,692 and $24,765 in Accrued Liabilities and Other non-current liabilities, respectively, on
the consolidated balance sheet, which represent the current estimate of environmental remediation liabilities as well as reserves related to the litigation
matters discussed below. Expenses relating to these costs, and any recoveries, are included in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations. Estimates of the Company's liability for remediation of a particular site and the method and ultimate cost
of remediation require a number of assumptions that are inherently difficult to make, and the ultimate outcome may be materially different from current
estimates.

Environmental Matters

Certain subsidiaries of the Company have existing and contingent liabilities relating to environmental matters, including costs of remediation,
capital expenditures, and potential fines and penalties relating to possible violations of federal and state environmental laws. Such existing and contingent
liabilities are continually being readjusted based upon the emergence of new findings, techniques and alternative remediation methods.

Included among these liabilities, certain of the Company's subsidiaries have been identified as PRPs under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA") or similar state statutes at sites and are parties to administrative consent orders in connection with
certain properties. Those subsidiaries may be subject to joint and several liabilities imposed by CERCLA on PRPs. Due to the technical and regulatory
complexity of remedial activities and the difficulties attendant in identifying PRPs and allocating or determining liability among them, the subsidiaries are
unable to reasonably estimate the ultimate cost of compliance with such laws at some of the sites at which the Company's subsidiaries are PRP's.

Based upon information currently available, the Company's subsidiaries do not expect that their respective environmental costs, including the
incurrence of additional fines and penalties, if any, will have a material adverse effect on them or that the resolution of these environmental matters will
have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of such subsidiaries or the Company, but there can be no such
assurances. The Company anticipates that the subsidiaries will pay any such amounts out of their respective working capital, although there is no assurance
that they will
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have sufficient funds to pay them. In the event that a subsidiary is unable to fund its liabilities, claims could be made against its respective parent
companies for payment of such liabilities.

The sites where certain of the Company's subsidiaries have environmental liabilities include the following:

The Company has been working with the Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection ("CTDEEP") with respect to its
obligations under a 1989 consent order that applies to a former manufacturing facility located in Fairfield, Connecticut. An ecological risk assessment of
the wetlands portion was submitted in the second quarter of 2016 to the CTDEEP for their review and approval. Company officials continue to meet with
CTDEEP representatives to address a final workplan. Additional investigation of the wetlands is expected, pending approval of a mutually acceptable
wetlands work plan. An updated work plan to investigate the upland portion of the parcel was prepared by the Company and approved by the CTDEEP in
March 2018 and completed during 2019 and 2020. Additional upland investigatory work will be required to fully define the areas requiring remediation and
is also dependent upon CTDEEP requirements and approval. Based on currently known information, the Company reasonably estimates that it may incur
aggregate losses over a period of multiple years of between $10,500 and $17,500. The Company has a reserve of $14,300 recorded for future remediation
costs, which is our best estimate within this range of potential losses. Due to the uncertainties, there can be no assurance that the final resolution of this
matter will not be material to the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

In 1986, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an administrative consent order ("ACO") with the New Jersey Department of Environmental
Protection ("NJDEP") to investigate and remediate property in Montvale, New Jersey that it purchased in 1984. The ACO involves investigation and
remediation activities to be performed with regard to soil and groundwater contamination. The Company has been actively investigating and remediating
the soil and groundwater since that time and has completed the implementation of the improved groundwater treatment system in operation at the property.
Pursuant to a settlement agreement with the former owner/operator of the site, the responsibility for site investigation and remediation costs and other
related costs are contractually allocated 75% to the former owner/operator and 25% jointly to the Company, all after having the first $1,000 paid by the
former owner/operator. Additionally, the Company had been reimbursed indirectly through insurance coverage for a portion of the costs for which it is
responsible. There is no assurance that the former owner/operator or guarantors will continue to timely reimburse the Company for expenditures and/or will
be financially capable of fulfilling their obligations under the settlement agreement and the guaranties. There is no assurance that there will be any
additional insurance reimbursement. A reserve of approximately $900 has been established for the Company's expected 25% share of anticipated costs at
this site, which is based upon the recent selection of a final remedy, on-going operations and maintenance, additional investigations and monitored natural
attenuation testing over the next 30 years. Also, a reserve and related receivable of approximately $2,700 has been established for the former
owner/operator's expected share of anticipated costs at this site. On December 18, 2019, the State of New Jersey ("State") filed a complaint against the
Company and other non-affiliated corporations related to former operations at this location. The State is seeking unspecified damages, including
reimbursement for all cleanup and removal costs and other damages that the State claims it has incurred, including the lost value of, and reasonable
assessment costs for, any natural resource injured as a result of the alleged discharge of hazardous substances and pollutants, as well as attorneys' fees and
costs. On March 16, 2020, the Company filed a partial motion to dismiss, resulting in dismissal with prejudice of the State's trespass claim and limiting the
damages recoverable through the State's public nuisance claim to monetary relief associated with abatement. On June 11, 2020, the State filed an Amended
Complaint, bringing the same claims as the original complaint. On July 1, 2020, the Company answered and asserted crossclaims for indemnification and
contribution against another defendant, Cycle Chem, Inc. Cycle Chem also asserted crossclaims against the Company, which have been answered. The
parties have largely completed written and document discovery. As a result of the confidential mediation, the parties negotiated a settlement amount of
$10,500, of which the Company would be required to pay $2,625, its 25% share, and of which other non-affiliated corporations would pay the remaining
$7,875, their 75% share. Additionally, the State has also verbally agreed to a settlement amount of $3,500 with Cycle Chem for which they will be 100%
responsible. On October 14, 2022, the Company and all other related parties advised the Court of the global settlement. The State is required to go through
a formal approval process on the settlement amounts which includes a public notice and comment period. In the meantime, the legal proceedings have been
delayed while the settlement process is finalized. Once State approval is finalized, the Court will have a final hearing to approve and issue a consent
judgement.

The Company's subsidiary, SL Industries, Inc. ("SLI"), may incur environmental costs in the future as a result of the past activities of its former
subsidiary, SL Surface Technologies, Inc. ("SurfTech"), in Pennsauken, New Jersey ("Pennsauken Site") and in Camden, New Jersey and at its former
subsidiary, SGL Printed Circuits in Wayne, New Jersey. At the Pennsauken Site, SLI entered into a consent decree with both the U.S. Department of Justice
and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") in 2013 and has since completed the remediation required by the consent decree and has paid the
EPA a fixed sum for its past oversight costs. Separate from the consent decree, in December 2012, the NJDEP made a settlement demand of $1,800 for past
and future cleanup and removal costs and natural resource damages ("NRD"). To avoid the time and expense of
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litigating the matter, SLI offered to pay approximately $300 to fully resolve the claim presented by the State. SLI's settlement offer was rejected. On
December 6, 2018, the State filed a complaint against SLI related to the Pennsauken Site. The State is seeking treble damages and attorneys' fees, NRD for
loss of use of groundwater, as well as a request that SLI pay all cleanup and removal costs that the State has incurred and will incur at the Pennsauken Site.
On August 21, 2019, SLI submitted a $1,070 settlement offer, which was not accepted. The parties have substantially completed the fact and expert
discovery, including the exchange of competing expert reports. The Company has a reserve of $2,000, which is its current estimate of potential losses. SLI
intends to assert all legal and procedural defenses available to it. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the resolution of this matter will not be
material to the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

SLI reported soil contamination and groundwater contamination in 2003 from the SurfTech site located in Camden, New Jersey. Substantial
investigation and remediation work has been completed under the direction of the licensed site remediation professional for the site. Additional
investigations related to PFAS compounds have been initiated and have delayed remediation actions. Remediation actions, including soil excavation and
groundwater bioremediation, are expected to start in the second half of 2023. Post-remediation groundwater monitoring will be conducted following
completion of soil excavation. A reserve of $2,800 has been established for anticipated costs at this site, but there can be no assurance that there will not be
potential additional costs associated with the site, which cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the
resolution of this matter will not be material to the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

SLI is currently participating in environmental assessment and cleanup at a commercial facility located in Wayne, New Jersey. Contaminated soil
and groundwater have undergone remediation with the NJDEP and LSRP oversight, but contaminants of concern in groundwater and surface water, which
extend off-site, remain above applicable NJDEP remediation standards. A reserve of approximately $1,300 has been established for anticipated costs, but
there can be no assurance that there will not be potential additional costs associated with the site which cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the resolution of this matter will not be material to the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of
SLI, HNH or the Company.

Litigation Matters

Reith v. Lichtenstein, et al. On April 13, 2018, a purported shareholder of STCN, Donald Reith, filed a verified complaint, Reith v. Lichtenstein, et
al., 2018-0277 (Del. Ch.) (the "Reith litigation") in the Chancery Court. The plaintiff sought to assert class action and derivative claims against the
Company and several of its affiliated companies, together with certain of members STCN's board of directors, as well as other named defendants
(collectively, the "defendants") in connection with the acquisition of $35,000 of STCN's Series C Preferred Stock by an affiliate of the Company and equity
grants made to three individual defendants. The complaint includes claims for breach of fiduciary duty against all the individual defendants as STCN
directors; claims for aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty against the Company; a claim for breach of fiduciary duty as controlling stockholder
against the Company; and a derivative claim for unjust enrichment against the Company and the three individuals who received equity grants. The
complaint demands damages in an unspecified amount for STCN and its stockholders, together with rescission, disgorgement and other equitable relief.
The defendants moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to plead demand futility and failure to state a claim. On June 28, 2019, the Chancery Court
denied most of defendants' the motion to dismiss, allowing the matter to proceed. The defendants and plaintiff (the "parties") subsequently participated in
document discovery. On August 13, 2021, the parties, entered into a memorandum of understanding (the "MOU") in connection with the settlement of the
Reith litigation. Pursuant to the MOU, the defendants agreed (subject to court approval) to cause their directors' and officers' liability insurance carriers to
pay to STCN $2,750 in cash. The Company's insurance carrier agreed to pay $1,100 of the settlement and STCN's insurance carrier agreed to pay the
remaining $1,650. Following the parties' entry into a Stipulation and Agreement of Compromise, Settlement, and Release (the "Proposed Settlement
Agreement") on February 18, 2022, on March 17, 2022, the Chancery Court granted, with modifications, a scheduling order (the "Scheduling Order") in
connection with the Proposed Settlement Agreement. Pursuant to the Scheduling Order, during April 2022 the insurers completed the wiring of the
settlement payments into an account jointly controlled by counsel for plaintiff and STCN, where the funds are to remain until final court approval of the
settlement. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the MOU, certain of the individual defendants who are also current and former employees of the Company
—Warren Lichtenstein (Executive Chairman), Jack Howard (President), and William Fejes (former Chief Operating Officer)—entered into separate letter
agreements (the "Surrender Agreements") with STCN whereby they each agreed to surrender to STCN an aggregate 3,300,000 shares which they had
initially received in December 2017 in consideration for services to STCN. Pursuant to the MOU and the Surrender Agreements, on August 17, 2021, Mr.
Lichtenstein surrendered 2,133,333 Steel Connect shares (1,833,333 vested shares and 300,000 unvested shares), and Mr. Howard surrendered 1,066,667
Steel Connect shares (916,667 vested shares and 150,000 unvested shares). Also pursuant to the MOU and the Surrender Agreements, Mr. Fejes
surrendered 100,000 vested shares December 2021. After the parties filed papers in support of court approval of the settlement, and an objector filed papers
in
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opposition to approval of the settlement, and after hearings held on August 12 and August 18, 2022, and after the parties and insurers agreed to modify the
proposed settlement to increase by $250 the cash to be paid by the insurers, the court ruled on September 23, 2022 that it was denying approval of the
settlement. The funds previously paid into escrow were returned to the insurance carriers. In connection with rejection of the settlement, it was no longer
probable the Company had a liability for the proposed settlement liability nor receivable for the related insurance coverage and therefore both amounts
were no longer accrued. No new dates have yet been established for the trial, pretrial events or the completion of discovery proceedings. The possible
liability, if any, with respect to this dispute cannot be determined as of this date.

A subsidiary of BNS Holdings Liquidating Trust ("BNS Sub") has been named as a defendant in multiple alleged asbestos-related toxic-tort claims
filed over a period beginning in 1994 through June  30, 2023. In many cases these claims involved more than 100 defendants. There remained
approximately 55 pending asbestos claims as of June 30, 2023. BNS Sub believes it has significant defenses to any liability for toxic-tort claims on the
merits. None of these toxic-tort claims has gone to trial and, therefore, there can be no assurance that these defenses will prevail. BNS Sub has insurance
policies covering asbestos-related claims for years beginning 1974 through 1988. BNS Sub annually receives retroactive billings or credits from its
insurance carriers for any increase or decrease in claims accruals as claims are filed, settled or dismissed, or as estimates of the ultimate settlement costs for
the then-existing claims are revised. As of both June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, BNS Sub has accrued $1,462 and $1,418 respectively, relating to the
open and active claims against BNS Sub. This accrual includes the amount of unpaid retroactive billings submitted to the Company by the insurance
carriers and also the Company's best estimate of the likely costs for BNS Sub to settle these claims outside the amounts funded by insurance. There can be
no assurance that the number of future claims and the related costs of defense, settlements or judgments will be consistent with the experience to-date of
existing claims and that BNS Sub will not need to significantly increase its estimated liability for the costs to settle these claims to an amount that could
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

In the ordinary course of our business, the Company is subject to other periodic lawsuits, investigations, claims and proceedings, including, but
not limited to, contractual disputes, employment, environmental, health and safety matters, as well as claims associated with our historical acquisitions and
divestitures. There is insurance coverage available for many of the foregoing actions. Although the Company cannot predict with certainty the ultimate
resolution of lawsuits, investigations, claims and proceedings asserted against the Company, it does not believe any currently pending legal proceeding to
which it is a party will have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows, results of operations or liquidity.

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The receivables from related parties and payables to related parties are included in Prepaid expenses and other current assets and Other current
liabilities, respectively, on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The components of receivables from related parties and payables to related parties
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 are presented below:

June 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Receivable from related parties:
Receivable from associated companies - STCN $ —  $ 967 
Receivable from other related parties 199  (5)

Total $ 199  $ 962 
Payables to related parties:
Accrued management fees $ 270  $ 299 
Payables to other related parties 1,773  2,582 

Total $ 2,043  $ 2,881 

Management Agreement with SP General Services LLC

SPLP is managed by the Manager, pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement, which receives a fee at an annual rate of 1.5% of total
Partners' capital ("Management Fee"), payable on the first day of each quarter and subject to a quarterly adjustment. In addition, SPLP may issue to the
Manager partnership profits interests in the form of incentive units, which will be classified as Class C common units of SPLP, upon exceeding a baseline
equity value per common unit, which is determined as of the last day of each fiscal year (see Note 11 - "Capital and Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Loss" for additional information on the incentive units).
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The Management Agreement is automatically renewed each December 31 for successive one-year terms unless otherwise determined at least 60
days prior to each renewal date by a majority of the Company's independent directors. The Management Fee was $3,070 and $2,450 for the three months
ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $6,071 and $4,937 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Management Fee is
included in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. Unpaid amounts for management fees
included in Other current liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheet were $270 and $299 as of June  30, 2023 and December  31, 2022,
respectively.

SPLP will bear (or reimburse the Manager with respect to) all its reasonable costs and expenses of the managed entities, the Manager, SPH GP or
their affiliates, including but not limited to: legal, tax, accounting, auditing, consulting, administrative, compliance, investor relations costs related to being
a public entity rendered for SPLP or SPH GP, as well as expenses incurred by the Manager and SPH GP which are reasonably necessary for the
performance by the Manager of its duties and functions under the Management Agreement and certain other expenses incurred by managers, officers,
employees and agents of the Manager or its affiliates on behalf of SPLP. Reimbursable expenses incurred by the Manager in connection with its provision
of services under the Management Agreement were approximately $1,773 and $1,218 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and
$2,379 and $1,992 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Unpaid amounts for reimbursable expenses were approximately $1,610
and $2,427 as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, and are included in Other current liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance
sheets.

Corporate Services

The Company's subsidiary, Steel Services Ltd ("Steel Services"), through management services agreements with its subsidiaries and portfolio
companies, provides services, which include assignment of C-Level management personnel, legal, tax, accounting, treasury, consulting, auditing,
administrative, compliance, environmental health and safety, human resources, marketing, investor relations, operating group management and other
similar services. In addition to its servicing agreements with SPLP and its consolidated subsidiaries, which are eliminated in consolidation, Steel Services
has management services agreements with other companies considered to be related parties, including J. Howard Inc., Steel Partners, Ltd. and affiliates,
and STCN. In total, Steel Services currently charges approximately $1,787 annually to these companies. Upon closing of the Exchange Transaction on May
1, 2023, STCN became a consolidated subsidiary of the Company as described in Note 3 - "Acquisitions and Divestitures". Service fees charged to STCN
after May 1, 2023 are eliminated in consolidation. All amounts billed under these service agreements are classified as a reduction of Selling, general and
administrative expenses.

Mutual Securities, Inc.

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Manager is responsible for selecting executing brokers. Securities transactions for SPLP are allocated
to brokers on the basis of reliability, price and execution. The Manager has selected Mutual Securities, Inc. as an introducing broker and may direct a
substantial portion of the managed entities' trades to such firm, among others. An officer of the Manager and SPH GP is affiliated with Mutual Securities,
Inc. The commissions paid by SPLP to Mutual Securities, Inc. were not significant in any period.

Other

At June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, several related parties and consolidated subsidiaries had deposits totaling $110 and $1,112 at WebBank,
respectively. Approximately $27 and $31 of these deposits, including interest which was not significant, have been eliminated in consolidation as of
June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

SPLP operates through the following segments: Diversified Industrial, Energy, Supply Chain, and Financial Services, which are managed
separately and offer different products and services. The Diversified Industrial segment is comprised of manufacturers of engineered niche industrial
products, including joining materials, tubing, building materials, performance materials, electrical products, cutting replacement products and services, and
a packaging business. The Energy segment provides drilling and production services to the oil & gas industry and owns a youth sports business. The
Supply Chain segment is comprised of the operations of Steel Connect's wholly-owned subsidiary, ModusLink Corporation ("ModusLink") which provides
supply chain management and logistics services. The Financial Services segment consists primarily of the operations of WebBank, a Utah chartered
industrial bank, which engages in a full range of banking activities.

33



Corporate and Other consists of several consolidated subsidiaries, including Steel Services, equity method and other investments, and cash and
cash equivalents. Its income or loss includes certain unallocated general corporate expenses.

Steel Services has management services agreements with its consolidated subsidiaries and other related companies as further discussed in Note 16
- "Related Party Transactions." Steel Services charged the Diversified Industrial, Energy, Financial Services, and Supply Chain segments approximately
$15,597, $2,700, $571 and $411, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and charged the Diversified Industrial, Energy, and Financial
Services segments approximately $12,544, $2,142 and $536, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2022. Steel Services charged the Diversified
Industrial, Energy, Financial Services, and Supply Chain segments approximately $26,368, $4,688, $993, and $411, respectively, for the six months ended
June 30, 2023 and charged the Diversified Industrial, Energy, and Financial Services segments approximately $22,900, $3,568, and $918, respectively, for
the six months ended June 30, 2022. These service fees are reflected as expenses in the segment income (loss) below, but are eliminated in consolidation.

Segment information is presented below:
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenue:
Diversified Industrial $ 315,046  $ 346,664  $ 619,472  $ 673,913 
Energy 50,314  47,024  98,478  85,341 
Financial Services 105,384  47,720  198,165  87,899 
Supply Chain 30,181  —  30,181  — 

Total revenue $ 500,925  $ 441,408  $ 946,296  $ 847,153 
Income (loss) before interest expense and income taxes:
Diversified Industrial $ 25,121  $ 121,952  $ 46,259  $ 156,034 
Energy 4,031  3,677  9,271  7,629 
Financial Services 24,982  13,709  50,834  27,636 
Supply Chain 1,835  —  1,835  — 
Corporate and Other (6,851) (2,971) (13,688) (38,258)
Income before interest expense and income taxes 49,118  136,367  94,511  153,041 
Interest expense 5,833  4,818  11,819  9,342 
Income tax (benefit) provision (15,330) 39,436  (726) 47,045 
Net income $ 58,615  $ 92,113  $ 83,418  $ 96,654 
Loss (income) of associated companies, net of taxes:
Corporate and Other $ 4,837  $ (2,260) $ 8,804  $ 2,383 
Total $ 4,837  $ (2,260) $ 8,804  $ 2,383 
Segment depreciation and amortization:
Diversified Industrial $ 10,061  $ 10,392  $ 20,076  $ 21,753 
Energy 2,452  2,643  4,992  5,164 
Financial Services 209  133  425  261 
Supply Chain 910  —  910  — 
Corporate and Other 165  180  337  333 

Total depreciation and amortization $ 13,797  $ 13,348  $ 26,740  $ 27,511 

18. REGULATORY MATTERS

WebBank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital
requirements can initiate certain actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on WebBank's financial statements. Under
capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, WebBank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve
quantitative measures of its assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. WebBank's capital
amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors.

As a result of Basel III becoming fully implemented as of January 1, 2019, WebBank's minimum requirements increased for both the quantity and
quality of capital held by WebBank. The rules include a new common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets ratio ("CET1 Ratio") of 4.5% and a
capital conservation buffer of 2.5% of risk-weighted assets, which, as fully phased-in, effectively results in a minimum CET1 Ratio of 7.0%. Basel III
raised the minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets from 4.0% to 6.0% (which, with the capital conservation buffer, effectively results in a
minimum Tier 1
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capital ratio of 8.5% as fully phased-in) and effectively results in a minimum total capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 10.5% (with the capital
conservation buffer fully phased-in), and requires a minimum leverage ratio of 4.0%. Basel III also made changes to risk weights for certain assets and off-
balance sheet exposures. WebBank expects that its capital ratios under Basel III will continue to exceed the well-capitalized minimum capital requirements
and such amounts are disclosed in the table below:

Amount of Capital Required

Actual
For Capital

Adequacy Purposes

Minimum Capital Adequacy
With

Capital Buffer
To Be Well Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective Provisions

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
As of June 30, 2023
Total Capital
(to risk-weighted assets) $ 343,959  15.80 % $ 173,697  8.00 % $ 227,978  10.50 % $ 217,122  10.00 %
Tier 1 Capital
(to risk-weighted assets) $ 316,759  14.60 % $ 130,273  6.00 % $ 184,553  8.50 % $ 173,697  8.00 %
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
(to risk-weighted assets) $ 316,759  14.60 % $ 97,705  4.50 % $ 151,985  7.00 % $ 141,129  6.50 %
Tier 1 Capital
(to average assets) $ 316,759  14.00 % $ 90,810  4.00 % n/a n/a $ 113,513  5.00 %

As of December 31, 2022
Total Capital
(to risk-weighted assets) $ 306,618  15.00 % $ 163,952  8.00 % $ 215,187  10.50 % $ 204,940  10.00 %
Tier 1 Capital
(to risk-weighted assets) $ 280,951  13.70 % $ 122,964  6.00 % $ 174,199  8.50 % $ 163,952  8.00 %
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
(to risk-weighted assets) $ 280,951  13.70 % $ 92,223  4.50 % $ 143,458  7.00 % $ 133,211  6.50 %
Tier 1 Capital
(to average assets) $ 280,951  14.70 % $ 76,300  4.00 % n/a n/a $ 95,375  5.00 %

The Federal Reserve, Office of the Comptroller of Currency and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation issued an interim final rule that excludes
loans pledged as collateral to the Federal Reserve's PPP Lending Facility from supplementary leverage ratio exposure and average total consolidated assets.
Additionally, PPP loans will receive a zero percent risk weight under the risk-based capital rules of the federal banking agencies.

WebBank elected to apply a modified transition provision issued by federal banking regulators related to the impact of the current expected credit
loss accounting standard (CECL) on regulatory capital. The rule permits certain banking organizations to exclude from regulatory capital the initial
adoption impact of CECL using a three-year phase-out period in which the benefit is reduced by 25% in year one, 50% in year two and 75% in year three.

19. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

A summary of supplemental cash flow information for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 is presented in the following table:
Six Months Ended June 30,

2023 2022
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 36,000  $ 10,252 
Taxes $ 22,583  $ 13,179 

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Investments

As of June 30, 2023, Steel Connect owned approximately 4.5% of Aerojet common stock with a fair value of $197,463. Subsequent to June 30,
2023 Steel Connect received net proceeds of $207,799 in exchange for all of its Aerojet shares. See Note 7 – "Investments" for further information on the
Company's former investment in Aerojet.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this "Form 10-Q"), unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "we," "our," "SPLP" and the
"Company" refer to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.

The following discussion is intended to assist you in understanding our present business and the results of operations, together with our present
financial condition. This section should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes contained in this
Form 10-Q, along with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 (the "2022 Annual Report"). All monetary amounts
used in this discussion are in thousands.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-Q includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), including, in particular, forward-looking statements under the headings
"Item 1 - Financial Statements" and "Item 2 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." These statements
appear in a number of places in this report and include statements regarding the Company's intent, belief or current expectations with respect to, among
other things, (i) its financing plans, (ii) trends affecting its financial condition or results of operations and (iii) the impact of competition. The words
"expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "believe," "seek," "estimate" and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements;
however, this report also contains other forward-looking statements in addition to historical information.

Forward-looking statements are only predictions based upon the Company's current expectations and projections about future events. There are
important factors that could cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by
the statements. Factors that could cause actual results or conditions to differ from those anticipated by these and other forward-looking statements include:
disruptions to the Company’s business as a result of economic downturns; the significant volatility of crude oil and commodity prices; the effects of rising
interest rates; the Company’s subsidiaries’ sponsor defined pension plans, which could subject the Company to future cash flow requirements; the ability to
comply with legal and regulatory requirements, including environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, banking regulations and other extensive
requirements to which the Company and its businesses are subject; risks associated with the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, WebBank, as a result of
its Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") status, highly-regulated lending programs, and capital requirements; the ability to meet obligations
under the Company's senior credit facility through future cash flows or financings; the risk of recent events affecting the financial services industry,
including the closures or other failures of several large banks; the risk of management diversion, increased costs and expenses, and impact on profitability
in connection with the Company's business strategy to make acquisitions; the impact of losses in the Company's investment portfolio; the Company’s
ability to protect its intellectual property rights and obtain or retain licenses to use others' intellectual property on which the Company relies; the
Company’s exposure to risks inherent to conducting business outside of the U.S.; the impact of any changes in U.S. trade policies; the adverse impact of
litigation or compliance failures on the Company's profitability; a significant disruption in, or breach in security of, the Company’s technology systems or
protection of personal data; the loss of any significant customer contracts; the Company’s ability to maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting; adverse impacts of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows; the rights of
unitholders with respect to voting and maintaining actions against the Company or its affiliates; potential conflicts of interest arising from certain
interlocking relationships amount us and affiliates of the Company’s Executive Chairman; the Company’s dependence on the Manager and impact of the
management fee on the Company’s total partners’ capital; the impact to the development of an active market for the Company’s units due to transfer
restrictions and other factors; the Company’s tax treatment and its subsidiaries’ ability to fully utilize their tax benefits; the loss of essential employees; and
other factors described in the "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A of the Form 10-K that could affect the Company's results. Any forward-looking statement
made in this Form 10-Q speaks only as of the date hereof, and investors should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.
Except as otherwise required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events, changed circumstances or any other reason.

OVERVIEW

SPLP, together with its subsidiaries, is a diversified global holding company that owns and operates businesses and has significant interests in
various companies, including diversified industrial products, energy, defense, supply chain management and logistics, banking and youth sports. SPLP
operates through the following segments: Diversified Industrial, Energy, Financial
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Services and Supply Chain. Each of our companies has its own management team with significant experience in their respective industries.

The Diversified Industrial segment is comprised of manufacturers of engineered niche industrial products, with leading market positions in many
of the markets they serve. The businesses in this segment distribute products to customers through their sales personnel, outside sales representatives and
distributors in North and South America, Europe, Australia, Asia and several other international markets. Its manufacturing operations encompass joining
materials, tubing, building materials, performance materials, electrical products, cutting replacement products and services, and metallized films.

The Energy segment provides drilling and production services to the oil & gas industry and owns a youth sports business. The operations of the
sports business are not material to the Company. The profitability of the energy business is highly sensitive to changes in the price of crude oil. Any future
decline in oil prices will negatively impact this business.

The Financial Services segment consists primarily of the operations of WebBank, of which we own 100% through our subsidiary WebFinancial
Holding Corporation. WebBank is an FDIC-insured state chartered industrial bank headquartered in Utah. WebBank is subject to comprehensive regulation,
examination and supervision of the FDIC and the State of Utah Department of Financial Institutions ("UDFI"). WebBank is not considered a "bank" for
Bank Holding Company Act purposes and, as such, SPLP is not regulated as a bank holding company. WebBank engages in a full range of banking
activities, including originating loans, issuing credit cards and taking deposits that are federally insured. WebBank originates and funds consumer and small
business loans through lending programs with unaffiliated companies that market and service the programs ("Marketing Partners"), where the Marketing
Partners subsequently purchase the loans (or interests in the loans) that are originated by WebBank. WebBank retains a portion of the loans it originates for
its Marketing Partners. WebBank also has private-label financing programs that are branded for a specific retailer, manufacturer, dealer channel, proprietary
network or bank card program. WebBank participates in syndicated commercial and industrial as well as asset-based credit facilities and asset-based
securitizations through relationships with other financial institutions. WebBank has observed and still anticipates economic disruption and loan
performance deterioration associated with current risks such as the economic impacts of inflation, rising interest rates and looming recession. WebBank
believes this may have a broad negative impact on the macro-economy and may cause estimated credit losses to differ from historical loss experience.

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, WebBank did not issue new loans under the Small Business Administration's ("SBA") Paycheck
Protection Program ("PPP"), authorized under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security ("CARES") Act. The existing loans were funded by the
PPP Liquidity Facility and have terms of between two and five years with repayment guaranteed by the SBA. Payments by borrowers up to sixteen months
after the note date, and interest will continue to accrue during the sixteen-month deferment at 1%. Loans can be forgiven in whole or in part (up to full
principal and any accrued interest) if certain criteria are met. Loan processing fees paid to WebBank from the SBA are accounted for as loan origination
fees. Net deferred fees are recognized over the life of the loan as yield adjustments on the loans. If a loan is paid off or forgiven by the SBA prior to its
maturity date, the remaining unamortized deferred fees will be recognized in interest income at that time. As of June 30, 2023, the total PPP loans and
associated liabilities are $31,829 and $25,715, respectively, and included in Long-term loans receivable, net and Other borrowings, respectively, in the
consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2023. Upon borrower forgiveness, the SBA pays WebBank for the principal and accrued interest owed on the
loan.

The Supply Chain segment consists primarily of the operations of Steel Connect, Inc.'s ("Steel Connect" or "STCN") wholly-owned subsidiary,
ModusLink Corporation ("ModusLink" or "Supply Chain"), which serves the supply chain management market. ModusLink provides digital and physical
supply chain solutions to many of the world's leading brands across a diverse range of industries, including consumer electronics, telecommunications,
computing and storage, software and content, consumer packaged goods, medical devices, retail and luxury and connected devices. These solutions are
delivered through a combination of industry expertise, innovative service solutions, and integrated operations, proven business processes, an expansive
global footprint and world-class technology. With a global footprint spanning North America, Europe and the Asia Pacific region, ModusLink's solutions
and services are designed to improve end-to-end supply chains in order to drive growth, lower costs, and improve profitability.

Corporate and Other consists of several consolidated subsidiaries, including our subsidiary, Steel Services Ltd ("Steel Services"), equity method
and other investments, and cash and cash equivalents. Its income or loss includes certain unallocated general corporate expenses. Steel Services has
management services agreements with our consolidated subsidiaries and other related companies. Steel Services provides assignment of C-Level
management personnel, legal, tax, accounting, treasury, consulting, auditing, administrative, compliance, environmental health and safety, human
resources, marketing, investor relations, operating group management and other similar services. For additional information on these service agreements,
see Note 16 - "Related Party Transactions" to the SPLP consolidated financial statements found elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.
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Significant Developments

Transfer and Exchange Agreement

On April 30, 2023, the Company and Steel Connect executed a series of agreements, in which the Company and certain of its affiliates (the "Steel
Partners Group") transferred an aggregate of 3,597,744 shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share, of Aerojet Rocketdyne Holdings, Inc. held by
the Steel Partners Group to Steel Connect in exchange for 3,500,000 shares of newly created Series E Convertible Preferred Stock of Steel Connect (the
“Series E Convertible Preferred Stock” and such transfer and related transactions, the "Exchange Transaction"). Following recent approval by the Steel
Connect stockholders pursuant to the rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC, the Series E Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible into an aggregate of
184.9 million shares of Steel Connect common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “common stock” or “Common Stock”), and will vote together with the
Steel Connect common stock and participate in any dividends paid on the Steel Connect common stock, in each case on an as-converted basis. Upon
conversion of the Series E Convertible Preferred Stock, the Steel Partners Group would hold approximately 84.0% of the outstanding equity interests of
Steel Connect, and Steel Connect became a consolidated subsidiary for financial statement purposes. Steel Connect is not consolidated for Federal income
tax purposes because the ownership in Steel Connect is dispersed between different federal tax consolidation groups. The Exchange Transaction closed on
May 1, 2023, the date that the consideration was exchanged between the Company and Steel Connect. Steel Connect's assets and liabilities have been
included in the Company's consolidated balance sheet, with a related noncontrolling interest of 16.0% of STCN's common stock. Prior to the Exchange
Transaction date the Company held a 49.6% ownership interest in Steel Connect and accounted for its investment in Steel Connect in accordance with the
equity method of accounting. The Company remeasured the previously held equity method investment to its fair value based upon a valuation of Steel
Connect, as of the date of the Exchange Transaction. The financial results of Steel Connect, Inc. ("Steel Connect", "STCN" or "Supply Chain") have been
included in the Company's consolidated financial statements from the Exchange Transaction date of May 1, 2023 (see Note 3 - "Acquisitions and
Divestitures").

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenue $ 500,925  $ 441,408  $ 946,296  $ 847,153 
Cost of goods sold 289,399  288,813  550,692  556,983 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 136,364  100,841  251,318  186,965 
Asset impairment charges 329  32  329  435 
Interest expense 5,833  4,818  11,819  9,342 
Realized and unrealized losses (gains) on securities, net 3,121  (1,515) 2,514  26,211 
Gain from sale of business —  (85,185) —  (85,185)
All other expense, net * 17,757  4,315  38,128  6,320 
Total costs and expenses 452,803  312,119  854,800  701,071 
Income from operations before income taxes and equity method investments 48,122  129,289  91,496  146,082 
Income tax (benefit) provision (15,330) 39,436  (726) 47,045 
Loss (income) of associated companies, net of taxes 4,837  (2,260) 8,804  2,383 
Net income $ 58,615  $ 92,113  $ 83,418  $ 96,654 

* includes finance interest, provision for loan losses, and other expense from the consolidated statements of operations

Revenue

Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023 increased $59,517, or 13.5%, as compared to the same period last year, as a result of higher
revenue from both Financial Services and Energy segments, as well as favorable impact from the newly acquired Supply Chain segment, partially offset by
lower sales from the Diversified Industrial segment.

Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2023 increased $99,143, or 11.7%, as compared to the same period last year, as a result of higher
revenue from both Financial Services and Energy segments, as well as favorable impact of the newly acquired Supply Chain segment, partially offset by
lower sales from the Diversified Industrial segment including the impact from the divestiture of the SLPE business in April 2022.
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Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold for the three months ended June 30, 2023 increased $586, or 0.2%, as compared to the same period last year, resulting from
newly acquired Supply Chain segment and higher revenue volume from the Energy segment, largely offset by lower sales from the Diversified Industrial
segment, primarily from its Building Materials business unit.

Cost of goods sold for the six months ended June 30, 2023 decreased $6,291, or 1.1%, as compared to the same period last year, primarily driven
by lower sales discussed above from the Diversified Industrial segment, partially offset by the impact of newly acquired Supply Chain segment and higher
revenue from the Energy segment.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") for the three months ended June 30, 2023 increased $35,523, or 35.2%, as compared to
the same period last year. The increase was primarily due to higher expenses from the Financial Services segment of $29,700 and impact of newly acquired
Supply Chain segment of $8,900. The increase for the Financial Services segment was primarily due to higher credit performance fees due to higher credit
risk transfer ("CRT") balances and higher personnel expenses related to incremental headcount.

SG&A for the six months ended June 30, 2023 increased $64,353, or 34.4%, as compared to the same period last year. The increase was primarily
driven by higher SG&A expenses from the Financial Services segment of $51,000 and newly acquired Supply Chain segment of $8,900 as mentioned
above. SG&A expenses for the Diversified Industrial segment also increased by approximately $11,700, primarily due to higher personnel costs for the six
months ended June 30, 2023, despite the impact of the divestiture of SLPE business of $5,000.

Asset Impairment Charges

An impairment charge of $329 was recognized during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, related to a piece of unused equipment in the
Building Materials business unit from the Diversified Industrial segment. An impairment charge of $435 was recognized during the six months ended June
30, 2022, primarily related to an idle piece of equipment in the Joining Materials business unit from the Diversified Industrial segment.

Interest Expense

Interest expenses increased $1,015, or 21.1% and $2,477 or 26.5% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, as compared to
the same periods last year. The increases were primarily due to higher average interest rates, partially offset by lower average debt level, as compared to the
same periods of 2022.

Gain from Sale of Business

The Company recognized a pre-tax gain of $85,185 during the six months ended June 30, 2022, related to the divestiture of the SLPE business
from the Diversified Industrial segment.

Realized and Unrealized Losses (Gains) on Securities, Net

The Company recorded losses of $3,121 for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to gains of $1,515 in the same period of 2022.
The Company recorded losses of $2,514 for the six months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to losses of $26,211 in the same period of 2022. These gains
and losses were due to unrealized gains and losses related to the mark-to-market adjustments on the Company's portfolio of securities.
All Other Expense, Net

All other expense, net totaled $17,757 for the three months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $4,315 in the same period of 2022 and $38,128
for the six months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to $6,320 in the same period of 2022. Higher all other expense, net for the three months ended June
30, 2023 was primarily due to higher finance interest expense related to the Financial Service segment, as compared to the same period of 2022. Higher all
other expense, net for the six months ended
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June 30, 2023 was primarily due to higher finance interest expense and provisions for credit losses related to the Financial Services segment, as compared
to the same period of 2022.

Income Tax (Benefit) Provision

The Company recorded income tax benefit of $15,330 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and income tax provision of $39,436 for the same
period in 2022. The Company recorded income tax benefit of $726 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and income tax provision of $47,045 for the
same period in 2022. The Company's effective tax rate was (0.8)% and 32.2% for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The lower
effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2023 is primarily due to the change in U.S. income tax expense related to unrealized gains and losses on
investments and the deferred tax movements resulting from the acquisition of Steel Connect. As a limited partnership, the Company is generally not
responsible for federal and state income taxes, and its profits and losses are passed directly to its limited partners for inclusion in their respective income
tax returns. Provisions have been made for federal, state, local or foreign income taxes on the results of operations generated by our consolidated
subsidiaries that are taxable entities. Significant differences between the statutory rate and the effective tax rate include partnership losses for which no tax
benefit is recognized, tax expense related to unrealized gains and losses on investment, state taxes, changes in deferred tax valuation allowances, deferred
tax movements resulting from the acquisition of Steel Connect in an exchange transaction and other permanent differences.

Loss (Income) of Associated Companies, Net of Taxes

The Company recorded losses from associated companies, net of taxes, of $4,837 and $8,804 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023,
respectively, as compared to income from associated companies, net of taxes, of $2,260 and loss from associated companies, net of taxes, of $2,383 for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively. For the details of each of these investments and the related mark-to-market adjustments, see Note 7
- "Investments" to the Company's consolidated financial statements found elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

Segment Analysis
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenue:
Diversified Industrial $ 315,046  $ 346,664  $ 619,472  $ 673,913 
Energy 50,314  47,024  98,478  85,341 
Financial Services 105,384  47,720  198,165  87,899 
Supply Chain 30,181  —  30,181  — 

Total revenue $ 500,925  $ 441,408  $ 946,296  $ 847,153 
Income (loss) from operations before interest expense and income taxes:
Diversified Industrial $ 25,121  $ 121,952  $ 46,259  $ 156,034 
Energy 4,031  3,677  9,271  7,629 
Financial Services 24,982  13,709  50,834  27,636 
Supply Chain 1,835  —  1,835  — 
Corporate and other (6,851) (2,971) (13,688) (38,258)
Income from operations before interest expense and income taxes 49,118  136,367  94,511  153,041 
Interest expense 5,833  4,818  11,819  9,342 
Income tax (benefit) provision (15,330) 39,436  (726) 47,045 

Net income $ 58,615  $ 92,113  $ 83,418  $ 96,654 
Loss (gain) of associated companies, net of taxes:
Corporate and other $ 4,837  $ (2,260) $ 8,804  $ 2,383 

Total $ 4,837  $ (2,260) $ 8,804  $ 2,383 
Segment depreciation and amortization:
Diversified Industrial $ 10,061  $ 10,392  $ 20,076  $ 21,753 
Energy 2,452  2,643  4,992  5,164 
Financial Services 209  133  425  261 
Supply Chain 910  —  910  — 
Corporate and other 165  180  337  333 
Total depreciation and amortization $ 13,797  $ 13,348  $ 26,740  $ 27,511 
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Diversified Industrial

Net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2023 decreased $31,618, or 9.1%, as compared to the same period of 2022 primarily driven by lower
sales for the Building Materials business unit. The decrease of $28,500 for the Building Materials business unit was primarily driven by lower volume from
its roofing products, partially offset by higher volume from its FastenMaster products.

Net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2023 decreased $54,441, or 8.1%, as compared to the same period of 2022. The decrease was
primarily due to $55,300 lower sales for the Building Materials business unit primarily due to lower demand for its roofing products and $12,600 lower
sales for the Electrical Products business unit primarily due to the impact from the divestiture of the SLPE business. These decreases were partially offset
by $9,600 higher sales from its Performance Materials business unit due to favorable pricing and higher sales volume.

Segment operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2023 decreased $96,831, as compared to the same period of 2022. Lower operating
income for the 2023 period was primarily driven by the pre-tax gain of $85,185 from the divestiture of the SLPE business in the 2022 period and lower
sales volume from the Building Material business unit.

Segment operating income for the six months ended June 30, 2023 decreased $109,775, as compared to the same period of 2022. Lower operating
income for the 2023 period was primarily due to a pre-tax gain of $85,185 related to the divestiture of the SLPE business in the 2022 period, lower sales
performance as mentioned above, as well as higher personnel costs during the 2023 period.

Energy

Net revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023 increased $3,290, or 7.0%, as compared to the same period of 2022. The increases in net
revenue were primarily due to higher volume and favorable pricing driven by higher demand from the energy sector.

Net revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2023 increased $13,137, or 15.4% as compared to the same periods of 2022, respectively. The
increases in net revenue were primarily due to higher volume and favorable pricing driven by higher demand from the energy sector.

Segment operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2023 increased $354, as compared to the same period of 2022 primarily driven by
stronger revenue mentioned above, partially offset by higher material and labor costs during the 2023 period.

Segment operating income for the six months ended June 30, 2023 increased $1,642, as compared to the same periods of 2022, respectively,
primarily driven by stronger revenue mentioned above, partially offset by higher material and labor costs during the 2023 periods.

Financial Services

Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023 increased $57,664, or 120.8%, as compared to the same period of 2022. The increase was
primarily due to an increase in interest income and fees from higher asset based lending, credit risk transfer, held for sale balances, and interest rates, as
well as higher non-interest income driven by increased volume as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022.

Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2023 increased $110,266, or 125.4%, as compared to the same period of 2022. The increase was
primarily due to an increase in interest income and fees from higher asset based lending, credit risk transfer, held for sale balances, and interest rates, as
well as higher non-interest income driven by increased volume as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022.

Segment operating income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 increased $11,273 and $23,198, respectively, as compared to the
same periods of 2022. The increases were primarily due to higher revenue as discussed above, partially offset by higher SG&A costs and finance interest
expenses. The increase in SG&A costs was driven by higher credit performance fees due to higher credit risk transfer balances as well as higher personnel
costs. The higher finance interest expense was due to an increase in deposits and higher interest rates.
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Supply Chain

The Company acquired the Supply Chain segment on May 1, 2023 with revenue of $30,181 and operating income of $1,835 for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2023.

Corporate and Other

Operating losses were $6,851 and $13,688 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, as compared to $2,971 and $38,258 for
the three and six months ended June  30, 2022, respectively. The fluctuations were primarily due to changes in investment results from long-term
investments. Operating losses from three and six months ended June 30, 2022 were also driven by higher legal fees.

DISCUSSION OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS

The following table provides a summary of the Company's consolidated cash flows from operations for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022:

Six Months Ended June 30,
2023 2022

Net cash used in operating activities $ (54,511) $ (100,861)
Net cash used in investing activities (143,902) (27,356)
Net cash provided by financing activities 318,175  6,967 
Net change for the period $ 119,762  $ (121,250)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company used $54,511 of cash, which was primarily due to changes in operating assets and
liabilities of $178,799, partially offset by operating income of $83,418 and adjustments to operating income, including depreciation and amortization of
$26,740, deferred income tax benefits of $20,923 and provision for credit losses of $11,010. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company used
$100,861 of cash, which was primarily due to changes in operating assets and liabilities of $190,034, partially offset by operating income of $96,654 and
adjustments to operating income, including the gains on sales of businesses of $85,185, depreciation and amortization of $27,511, realized and unrealized
losses on securities of $26,211 and deferred income taxes of $15,161.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company used $143,902 of cash, which was primarily due to loan originations, net of collections,
of $210,852, partially offset by an increase in cash on consolidation due to the transfer and exchange agreement with Steel Connect. During the six months
ended June 30, 2022, the Company used $27,356 of cash, which was primarily due to purchases of investments of $144,227 and purchases of property,
plant and equipment of $18,470, partially offset by the net proceeds from sales of businesses of $142,081.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company generated $318,175 of cash, which was primarily due to an increase in deposits of
$349,350, partially offset by repayments of PPP borrowings of $15,903 and share repurchases of $14,836. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the
Company used $6,967 of cash, which was primarily due to repayments of PPP borrowings of $214,211, net revolver repayments of $94,551 and share
repurchases of $31,417.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

SPLP (excluding its operating subsidiaries, "Holding Company") is a diversified global holding company with assets that principally consist of the
stock of its direct subsidiaries, equity method and other investments, and cash and cash equivalents. The Company works with its businesses to enhance
their liquidity and operations and increase long-term value for its unitholders and stakeholders through working capital improvements, capital allocation
policies, and operational and growth initiatives. Management plans to use the following strategies to continue to enhance liquidity: (1) continuing to
implement improvements using the Steel Business System throughout all the Company's operations to increase sales and operating efficiencies; (2)
supporting profitable sales growth both internally and potentially through acquisitions; and (3) evaluating from
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time to time and as appropriate, strategic alternatives with respect to its businesses and/or assets. The Company continues to examine all of its options and
strategies, including acquisitions, divestitures and other corporate transactions, to increase cash flow and stakeholder value.

The Company's senior credit facility, as amended and restated, (the "Credit Agreement") consists of a senior secured revolving credit facility in an
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $600,000 (the "Revolving Credit Loans"), which includes a $50,000 subfacility for swing line loans, a $50,000
subfacility for standby letters of credit and a currency sublimit (available in euros and pounds sterling) equal to the lesser of $75,000 and the total amount
of the Revolving Credit Commitment. The Credit Agreement covers substantially all of the Company's subsidiaries, with the exception of WebBank.
Availability under the Credit Agreement is based upon earnings and certain covenants, including a maximum ratio limit on Total Leverage and a minimum
ratio limit on Interest Coverage, each as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement is subject to certain mandatory prepayment provisions and
restrictive and financial covenants, primarily the leverage ratios described above. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants as of
June 30, 2023. The Company believes it will remain in compliance with the Credit Agreement's covenants for the next twelve months. If the Company does
not meet its financial covenants, and if it is unable to secure necessary waivers or other amendments from its lenders on terms acceptable to management,
its ability to access available lines of credit could be limited, its debt obligations could be accelerated and liquidity could be adversely affected. The Credit
Agreement will expire on December 29, 2026, and all outstanding amounts will be due and payable.

The Holding Company and its operating subsidiaries believe that they have access to adequate resources to meet their needs for normal operating
costs, capital expenditures, pension payments, debt obligations and working capital for their existing business, as well as to fund its taxes, legal and
environmental matters, for at least the next twelve months. These resources include cash and cash equivalents, investments, cash provided by operating
activities and unused lines of credit. The Holding Company and its operating businesses' ability to satisfy their debt service obligations, to fund planned
capital expenditures and required pension payments, and to make acquisitions or repurchase units under its common unit repurchase program will depend
upon their future operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions in the markets in which they operate, as well as
financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond their control. As indicated above, there can be no assurances that the Holding Company and
its operating businesses will continue to have access to their lines of credit if their financial performance does not satisfy the financial covenants set forth in
their respective financing agreements, which could also result in the acceleration of their debt obligations by their respective lenders, adversely affecting
liquidity.

As of June 30, 2023, the Company's working capital was $329,526, as compared to working capital of $156,085 as of December 31, 2022. The
Company's total availability under the Credit Agreement was approximately $405,700 as of June 30, 2023. During the six-month period ended June 30,
2023, capital expenditures were $23,551, as compared to $18,470 for the same period of 2022. The Company currently expects full-year capital
expenditures in the range of $58,000 to $68,000 in 2023, as compared to $47,541 in 2022. The Company and its subsidiaries have ongoing commitments,
which include funding of the minimum requirements of its subsidiaries' pension plans. During the six months ended June  30, 2023, the Company
contributed $5,000 to its pension plans. As of June 30, 2023, the Company currently estimates it will contribute $907 to its pension plans during the
remainder of 2023. Required future pension contributions are estimated based upon assumptions such as discount rates on future obligations, assumed rates
of return on plan assets and legislative changes. Actual future pension costs and required funding obligations will be affected by changes in the factors and
assumptions described in the previous sentence, including the impact of declines in pension plan assets and interest rates, as well as other changes such as
any plan termination or other acceleration events.

WebBank manages its liquidity to provide adequate funds to meet anticipated financial obligations, such as certificate of deposit maturities and to
fund customer credit needs. WebBank had $242,868 and $174,257 in cash and cash equivalents, time deposits placed at other institutions and federal funds
sold as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. WebBank had $55,000 in lines of credit from its correspondent banks as of June 30, 2023
and December 31, 2022. WebBank had $341,296 and $285,584 available from the Federal Reserve discount window as of June 30, 2023 and December 31,
2022, respectively. Therefore, WebBank had a total of $639,164 and $514,841 in cash, lines of credit and access to the Federal Reserve Bank discount
window as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, which represents approximately 27.7% and 26.9%, respectively, of WebBank's total
assets, excluding PPP loans.

Steel Connect's wholly-owned subsidiary, ModusLink, has a revolving credit agreement (the "Umpqua Revolver") with Umpqua Bank which
provides for a maximum credit commitment of $12,500 and a sub-limit of $5,000 for letters of credit and expires on March 31, 2025. As of June 30, 2023,
ModusLink was in compliance with the Umpqua Revolver's covenants, and believes it will remain in compliance with the Umpqua Revolver’s covenants
for the next twelve months. As of June 30, 2023, ModusLink had available borrowing capacity of $11,890 and there was $610 outstanding for letters of
credit.
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OTHER

Critical Accounting Estimates Update

The Company's consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP, which require us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. The critical accounting policies and estimates that we believe are most critical to
the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations are reported in the "Critical Accounting Policies" section of Part II. Item 7, "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in the 2022 Annual Report.

As of June 30, 2023, the Company did not identify any indicators of impairment and determined its goodwill, other intangible assets and long-
lived assets were not impaired. However, it is possible in future periods that declines in market conditions, customer demand or other potential changes in
operations may increase the risk that these assets are impaired.

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Electrical Products reporting unit had goodwill of $46,660 and $46,445, respectively. As of
December 31, 2022, the Electrical Products reporting unit's fair value exceeded its net book value by 5%. The fair value of the Electrical Products reporting
unit can be significantly impacted by the reporting unit’s performance, the amount and timing of expected future cash flows, decreased customer demand
for Electrical Products' services, management’s ability to execute its business strategies, and general market conditions, such as economic downturns, and
changes in interest rates, including discount rates. Future cash flow estimates are, by their nature, subjective, and actual results may differ materially from
the Company's estimates. Based on our assessment of these circumstances, we have determined that goodwill at our Electrical Products reporting unit is at
risk for future impairment if the Company's ongoing cash flow projections are not met or if market factors utilized in the impairment test deteriorate,
including an unfavorable change in the terminal growth rate or the weighted-average cost of capital, the Company may have to record impairment charges
in future periods.

During the first quarter of 2023, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This new standard changed the impairment model for most financial assets that are measured at amortized cost and
certain other instruments, including trade receivables, from an incurred loss model to an expected loss model and added certain new required disclosures.
Under the expected loss model, entities recognize estimated credit losses over the entire contractual term of the instrument rather than delaying recognition
of credit losses until it is probable the loss has been incurred. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2023. The guidance was applied on a
modified-retrospective basis, with the cumulative-effect adjustment recorded to partners' capital on the adoption date. The adoption did not have a material
effect on the Company’s trade receivables and other financial assets of its Diversified Industrial and Energy segments. The Company's Financial Services
segment recognized an increase of $5,248  to its Allowance for Credit Losses and a decrease of $3,862, net of tax cumulative effect adjustment to the
beginning balance of partners' capital from the adoption of ASU 2016-13. Determining the appropriateness of the allowance requires judgment by
management about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Changes in factors and forecasts used in evaluating the overall loan portfolio may
result in significant changes in the allowance for credit losses and related provision expense in future periods. The allowance level is influenced by loan
volumes, loan asset quality ratings, delinquency status, historical credit loss experience, loan performance characteristics, forecasted information and other
conditions influencing loss expectations. Changes to the assumptions in the model in future periods could have a material impact on the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 1 - "Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation" for a detailed discussion of the Company's methodologies
for estimating expected credit losses.

There were no material changes to the critical accounting policies during the six months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to those disclosed in
the Company's 2022 Annual Report, except for the updates to the Allowance for Credit Losses policy described in Note 1 - "Nature of Business and Basis
of Presentation". In preparing the financial statements, the Company is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There have been no material changes to our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk, as compared to the quantitative and
qualitative disclosures about market risk described in the 2022 Annual Report.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company conducted an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Principal Executive
Officer and the Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as such terms are defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
a company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company's management, including its Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officer, or persons performing
similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In conducting our evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting, we have elected to exclude Steel Connect (in which our ownership increased to 84.0% and which we consolidate, in each
case, as of May 1, 2023, as discussed in Note 3 - "Acquisitions and Divestitures") from our evaluation as of June 30, 2023, as permitted under the SEC’s
published guidance. As of and for the quarter ended June 30, 2023, Steel Connect represented 10.6% of our consolidated total assets and 6.0% of our
consolidated revenue.

Based on that evaluation, the Company's management, including the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer, concluded
that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2023.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company is in the process of integrating Steel Connect’s historical internal controls over financial reporting with the rest of the Company, and
during such time, may make appropriate changes to the internal control over financial reporting of Steel Connect. Other than the foregoing, there have been
no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to a variety of legal actions arising out of the normal course of business and otherwise. For further
information regarding our legal proceedings, see the description of legal and environmental matters set forth in Note 15 - "Commitments and
Contingencies" to the SPLP consolidated financial statements included in Part I of this Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors as disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-
K, other than as set forth below. Investors are encouraged to review such risk factors in such Form 10-K and below prior to making an investment in the
Company.

Risks Related to Our Business

Recent events affecting the financial services industry could have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.

The closures of Silicon Valley Bank, Signature Bank and Silvergate Capital Corporation, as well as acquisitions of Credit Suisse and First
Republic Bank at regulators' behest, in the first half of 2023 have created bank-specific and broader financial institution liquidity risks and concerns. While
we did not have any material deposits at any of these institutions, uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the financial services industry and
potential impacts on the broader global economy, and our business, our customers and suppliers, and/or industry as a whole may be adversely impacted in
ways that we cannot predict at this time.

If other banks and financial institutions enter receivership or become insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the
banking system and financial markets, our ability to access our existing cash and cash equivalents may
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be threatened. In addition, if any of our customers, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business are unable to access funds, such parties'
ability to pay or perform their obligations to us or to enter into new commercial arrangements requiring additional payments to us or additional funding
could be adversely affected. Moreover, sufficient external financing may not be available to us on a timely basis, on commercially reasonable terms to us,
or at all. Any of these events could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Risks Related to Taxation

All statutory references in this section are to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the "Code."

Changes in tax rates, laws or regulations, including U.S. government tax reform, could have a negative impact on the results of future
operations.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to taxation in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. Changes in various tax laws can and do occur. For
example, on December 22, 2017, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "TCJA") was enacted. The TCJA made substantial changes to the Internal Revenue
Code, some of which could have an adverse effect on our business. Among other things, the TCJA (i) reduces the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35%
to 21% beginning in 2018, (ii) limits annual deductions for interest net expense to no more than 30% of our "adjusted taxable income," plus 100% of our
business interest income for the year and (iii) permits a taxpayer to offset only 80% (rather than 100%) of its taxable income with any U.S. NOLs generated
for taxable years beginning after 2017. The U.S. Department of the Treasury has broad authority to issue regulations and interpretative guidance that may
significantly impact how we will apply the law and impact our results of operations in the period issued. Although Treasury Regulations and other guidance
have been issued to provide clarification, the interpretation of certain aspects of the TCJA remains unclear. It is expected, however, that additional Treasury
Regulations and other guidance will be issued to provide more clarification on certain provisions, although the timing of such guidance is, in many cases,
not yet known. In addition, on August 16, 2022, the U.S. enacted the IRA, which among other provisions, imposes a 15% minimum tax on the adjusted
financial statement income of certain large corporations and a 1% excise tax on corporate stock repurchases by U.S. publicly traded corporations and
certain U.S. subsidiaries of non-U.S. publicly traded corporations, as well as significant enhancements of U.S. tax incentives relating to climate and energy
investments. Although no material impact is currently expected, the full effect of the TCJA and the Inflation Reduction Act on operations of the Company
and its subsidiaries, is uncertain, and the IRA may impact the Company’s financial results beginning in fiscal 2023. Under various provisions of the Code
and relevant case law, the IRS has also become increasingly aggressive in deploying "soft doctrines" to challenge transactions as prioritizing form over
economic substance and being motivated by tax considerations. The application of these doctrines is often uncertain and could produce adverse tax results
with respect to transactions in which we engage.

Additionally, longstanding international tax norms that determine each country's jurisdiction to tax cross-border international trade are subject to
potential evolution. In connection with the Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Integrated Framework provided by Organization for Economic Cooperation
and Development (the "OECD"), the OECD recently reached agreement to align countries on a minimum corporate tax rate and an expansion of the taxing
rights of market countries, and therefore, determination of multi-jurisdictional taxation rights and the rate of tax applicable to certain types of income may
be subject to potential change. There can be no assurance that future changes to the U.S. federal, state and local and foreign tax laws will not be proposed
or enacted that could materially or adversely impact our business or financial results. If and when any or all of these changes are put into effect, they could
result in tax increases where we do business both in and outside of the United States, and could have a material adverse effect on the results of our
operations.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(a) Not applicable

(b) Not applicable

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The Board of SPH GP, has approved the repurchase of up to an aggregate of 8,770,240 of the Company's common units ("Repurchase Program"),
which is inclusive of 1,000,000 common units approved in May 2023. The Repurchase Program was announced on December 7, 2016 and supersedes and
cancels, to the extent any amounts remain available, all previously approved repurchase programs, as discussed in further detail in Note 11 - "Capital and
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss." Any purchases made under the Repurchase Program will be made from time to time on the open market at
prevailing market prices or in negotiated transactions off the market, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. In connection
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with the Repurchase Program, the Company may enter into a stock purchase plan. The Repurchase Program has no termination date. In the three months
ended June 30, 2023, the Company repurchased 267,994 common units for $11,588. Since inception of the Repurchase Program the Company had
purchased 7,689,490 common units for an aggregate price of approximately $159,194. As of June 30, 2023, there were approximately 1,080,750 common
units that may yet be purchased under the Repurchase Program. In July 2023, the Company repurchased 53,600 common units for $2,359.

The following table provides information about our repurchases of common units during the three months ended June 30, 2023. During that
period, we did not act in concert with any affiliate or any other person to acquire any of our common stock and, accordingly, we do not believe that
purchases by any such affiliate or other person (if any) are reportable in the following table.

Period
Total Number of Units

Purchased
Average Price Paid per

Unit

Total Number of Units
Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced Plans
or Programs

Approximate Number of
Units that May Yet Be

Purchased Under the Plans
or Programs

April 1, 2023 through April 30, 2023 720  $ 41.92  720  348,024 
May 1, 2023 through May 31, 2023 178,434  $ 43.09  178,434  1,169,590 
June 1, 2023 through June 30, 2023 88,840  $ 43.55  88,840  1,080,750 
Total 267,994  267,994 
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Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Tenth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Steel Partners Holdings L.P., dated as of June 1, 2023
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 5, 2023).

10.1 Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2023, by and among Steel Connect, Inc., Steel Partners Holdings L.P., and the
other stockholders signatory therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed May 1, 2023).

10.2 First Amendment and Consent to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2023, by and among SPH
Group Holdings LLC and Steel Excel Inc. as borrowers, PNC Bank, National Association, in its capacity as administrative
agent, the lenders party thereto, and certain of the borrowers’ affiliates in their capacities as guarantors (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Steel Partners Holdings L.P.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 27, 2023)

10.3 Offer letter between Steel Services and Mr. Martin.
10.4 Offer letter between Steel Services and Mr. O’Herrin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Steel Partners Holdings

L.P.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 7, 2023).

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Rule 13a-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Rule 13a-14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350) and
Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (furnished herewith).

32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350) and
Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (furnished herewith).

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase.
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase.

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and included in Exhibit 101).

 Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: August 9, 2023 STEEL PARTNERS HOLDINGS L.P.
By: Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc.,

Its General Partner

By: /s/ Ryan O'Herrin
Ryan O'Herrin
Chief Financial Officer and Authorized Signatory
(Principal Financial Officer)
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STEEL PARTNERS

Steel Services Ltd.
590 Madison Ave, 32 Floor
New York. NY 10022

May 28, 2023

Joseph Martin

Sent via email

PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL

Dear Joe:

We are pleased to offer you employment as Chief Administrative Officer and Chief Legal Officer (“CLO”) of Steel Services Ltd.
(the "Company"). This letter sets forth the general terms and conditions of your employment with the Company.

In your position, you will directly report to our Executive Chairman, Warren Lichtenstein. The specific terms of your
employment are as follows:

1. You will receive an annual base salary of $435,000 paid in installments according to the Company's standard payroll
practices and subject to all applicable deductions and withholdings. Your salary will be subject to an annual review based upon personal
performance, company performance, and market conditions. Any compensation increase is considered discretionary and subject to the
approval of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company

2. You will be a participant in the annual short-term incentive plan ("STIP") at a target level of 60% of your annual base
salary which will be pro-rated to your start date. Please note that all bonuses are subject to the sole discretion of the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directions of the Company pursuant to the terms of the applicable Bonus Plan. Any increase in compensation
or bonus is subject to the approval of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.

3. Additionally, you will be eligible to participate in the Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”). Your participation level is a
$450,000 target for the performance period beginning 2021 thru 2023, pro-rated based on your start date with additional service credit
under the Plan from January 1, 2021, through March 11, 2022.  This long-term incentive plan payment would be paid after the end of the
performance period after audit.    Please note that all bonuses are subject to the sole discretion of the Steel Partners Holding L.P.
(“SPLP”) Compensation Committee Compensation of the Board of Directors pursuant to the terms of the applicable Bonus Plan.    Any
increase in compensation or bonus is subject to the approval of the SPLP Compensation Committee.

4. You will be recommended to the SPLP Compensation Committee to receive 15,200 shares of SPLP stock, (11,000 shares)
that will vest on 6 months from the grant date and (4,200 shares) that will vest on the first anniversary of the grant date.

5. You will be eligible to participate in the Company's Health, Dental, Vision, Disability and Life Insurance plans. In
addition, you will be eligible to participate in the



STEEL PARTNERS

Steel Services Ltd.
590 Madison Ave, 32 Floor
New York. NY 10022

Company's 40l(k) Savings Plan provided to all employees. All benefit and compensation programs are subject to change and prior
service credit will be applied to all applicable benefits.

6. You will receive twenty (20) days of paid vacation time annually which is accrued per paycheck. All vacation benefits are
subject to change by the Company at any time and vacation and/or holiday requests require preapproval by your manager.

We would expect that should you accept this offer of employment by May 31, 2023, and you would begin employment with the
Company on June 19 , 2023.

As Steel Services Ltd. employee, you will be expected to abide by all Company policies and procedures. If you choose to accept our
offer of employment, you will be required to execute various documents which include a Code of Ethics, Confidentiality and Conflict of
Interest. This offer is also contingent upon. (i) completion of a drug screen, (ii) a reference and background screening, and (iii)
documentation that you can legally work in the United States upon your start date.

Additionally, as a Steel Services Ltd employee, you will be expected to complete the Steel Sports Foundations of Positive Coaching
course. Steel Sports is a social impact organization committed to creating a new standard in youth sports and coaching, while forging the next
generation of leaders and creating a positive experience for over 100,000 athletes and their families each year. When a kid plays for Steel
Sports, success comes in many forms: on the field, in the classroom, within their community, at home and in a career. We believe this course
is instrumental in aligning company culture and increases performance, as teamwork in sports is directly translatable to teamwork in the
office. After completing this course in your first year, you will be expected to meet coursework requirements through our Steel Sports
coaching system, which will be assigned to you annually to further our culture of positive team environment and growth mindset.

By signing this letter and accepting the Company's offer of employment, you represent that your acceptance of the offer does not,
and will not, cause you to violate any current contract or commitment, and it is a condition of your employment that there are no
constraints on your_ ability to fully perform the duties of the position offered. You further agree that you will not bring with you or use in
the performance of your responsibilities for the Company any materials or documents containing confidential, proprietary, trade secret or
similar information of a former employer. The Company wants to emphasize that it does not wish you to bring any confidential or
proprietary materials of any former employer that would violate any obligations you may have to your former employer.

This offer letter shall not be construed to obligate the Company to continue or guarantee an employment relationship with you.
It is hereby understood and agreed that should you accept this offer of employment you will be an employee-at-will and thus, you
may terminate your employment at any time and for any reason whatsoever. Likewise, the Company may terminate your
employment at any time and for any reason whatsoever, with or without cause and with or without notice. This at-will
employment
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Steel Services Ltd.
590 Madison Ave, 32 Floor
New York. NY 10022

relationship cannot be changed except by a writing authorized on behalf of officer of the Company.

This offer letter comprises the entire description of your compensation, and fully supersedes any and all prior discussions,
documents, promises, agreements, letters, and memoranda regarding this subject matter.

We are looking forward to you re-joining Steel Services. Please call me with any questions or comments you may have.

Very truly yours,

By: /s/ Stephanie McKinney
Stephanie McKinney
Chief Human Resources
Officer Steel Services, Ltd

cc:  Warren Lichtenstein 
       Jack Howard 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED:

By: /s/ Joseph Martin

Joseph Martin

Date: May 28, 2023



EXHIBIT 31.1

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Warren G. Lichtenstein, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 of Steel Partners Holdings L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:
August 9, 2023 /s/ Warren G. Lichtenstein

Warren G. Lichtenstein
Executive Chairman
of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc.



EXHIBIT 31.2

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Ryan O'Herrin, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 of Steel Partners Holdings L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:
August 9, 2023 /s/ Ryan O'Herrin

Ryan O'Herrin
Chief Financial Officer
of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc.



EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. (the “Partnership”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Warren G. Lichtenstein, Executive Chairman of Steel Partners
Holdings GP Inc., the general partner of the Partnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.
Date:
August 9, 2023 /s/ Warren G. Lichtenstein

Warren G. Lichtenstein
Executive Chairman
of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc.

* The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate
disclosure document.



EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Steel Partners Holdings L.P. (the “Partnership”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ryan O'Herrin, Chief Financial Officer of Steel Partners Holdings
GP Inc., the general partner of the Partnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.
Date:
August 9, 2023 /s/ Ryan O'Herrin

Ryan O'Herrin
Chief Financial Officer
of Steel Partners Holdings GP Inc.

* The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate
disclosure document.


